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AUTHORS’ NOTE


STUDIO LOGO


This book has been two decades in the writing. It is based on over 120 primary interviews made in person, by telephone and email, as well as hundreds of secondary interviews and articles sourced from newspapers, periodicals, magazines, websites, radio and television shows – published (and unpublished) over the past sixty-two years.


All original interviews were prepared and conducted by both authors but sometimes one or the other asked the actual questions. On those occasions the authors have taken a Lennon and McCartney approach and the interviews are jointly credited.


While every effort has been made to trace copyright holders and secure permissions for all quotes used, if any have been inadvertently overlooked, the publishers will be pleased to acknowledge them in future editions of this book. For any corrections or copyright enquiries please notify the authors by email: somekindofhero007@gmail.com.


In keeping with the tradition started in Raymond Benson’s the james bond bedside companion, all book titles mentioned in the text are shown in capitals, e.g. GOLDFINGER and all film titles are italicised, e.g. Goldfinger.




INTRODUCTION


GUN BARREL


Ajay Chowdhury: In August 1977 on a rainy holiday in Caernarfon, North Wales I became a James Bond fan. My parents took their three restless sons to the cinema to watch The Spy Who Loved Me; when Bond cascaded off a mountain, only to be saved by his Union Jack parachute, I fell with him. From Luxor to the Lotus to the Liparus, I was led into the world of 007. Jaws’ first appearance cloaked in shadow was genuinely terrifying. And, to cap it all, Roger Moore as James Bond finally gave me a hero I could respond to – audacious, assured, brilliant and, uniquely, British. Other things struck me, too: Ken Adam’s gun-metal genius, Marvin Hamlisch’s disco Bond ’77 theme and the ingenious gadgets (I have never looked at ordinary objects in the same way since). I was six years old and too young to appreciate the libidinous delights of the film – that came later – but I was thoroughly entertained. Over the next few years I would enjoy Star Wars, Star Trek and Superman, but nobody did it better than Bond, as Moonraker proved. My theory is that we become Bond fans after the second Bond film we see. This is because we connect the dots and see the similarities between films. The gun barrel, the music, the titles, M,Q, Moneypenny – they all trigger a sense of connectivity, which inspires us to follow the journey of all 007’s adventures.


Matthew Field: In July 1987 I went to the cinema for the very first time; the venue was the Poole Arts Centre and the film was The Living Daylights. I, too, was six years old and loved every minute of it. Later that year, following minor surgery, I woke to discover a gift at the foot of my hospital bed: Sally Hibbin’s the official james bond 007 movie poster book. I read it from cover to cover and, like every cereal packet reader, even digested the copyright notice. But, it would be an agonising eight years before I got to experience another 007 film in the theatre – what felt like a whole lifetime’s wait. When Licence to Kill was awarded a 15-rated certificate this eight-year-old was left gazing at the poster outside the cinema, unable to watch it. Finally when GoldenEye arrived in 1995 I remember seeing it with ten of my classmates. We were the GoldenEye generation. From then on it became a ritual to see the new Bond film at the cinema, except girlfriends and wives now accompany us and on the last occasion, the Odeon Bournemouth was replaced by the Royal Albert Hall, when we attended the premiere of Skyfall together.


Field and Chowdhury: Being a James Bond fan is akin to supporting a sports team; when you see a Bond film at the cinema it is like watching your team play a match. However, the game is only part of the fun. Sports fans speculate on players, who will be transferred, whose performance was good or bad. Bond fans speculate on the actors chosen and critique their suitability. Sports fans follow the coaches, the managers and specialist trainers – the behind-the-scenes staff are increasingly under the spotlight. Bond fans follow the filmmakers, directors, writers, designers and stunt teams – noting their influence on the resulting picture. The importance of ownership and investment is reported more these days as sports teams have become huge franchises. For the Bond series, studio shenanigans have similarly affected the spy’s performance. Team appreciation is often handed down from one generation to another and the family spirit of Bond has passed through, what in showbusiness terms, are eons. While the Bond team has cherished its star players from Sean Connery to Daniel Craig, we have also cherished our team founder Ian Fleming and our managers from Harry Saltzman and Cubby Broccoli to Michael G. Wilson and Barbara Broccoli. Without these people James Bond would not return.


We started out as James Bond fans and owe a huge debt of gratitude to the Bond community whose work we have admired and, in some cases, with whom we have formed friendships.


We stand on the shoulders of the following James Bond heroes: Ross Hendry, Richard Schenkman and Bob Forlini who founded the earliest James Bond fan clubs. John Pearson, John Brosnan, Steven Jay Rubin, Raymond Benson, Lee Pfeiffer, Philip Lisa, Dave Worrall, Andrew Lycett, Alan Barnes, Marcus Hearn, John Cork, Bruce Scivally and Paul Duncan – the authors of our favourite James Bond bibles.


We would also like to thank the following individuals from the global fan community who have added to our knowledge of 007: Oliver Bayan, Michael van Blaricum, Remmert van Braam, Heiko Baumann, Luc Le Clech, Jeremy Duns, Brad Frank, Tim Greaves, Markus Hartmann, Charles Helfenstein, Jerome Nicod, Thomas Nixdorf, Edward Coffrini Dell’Orto, Laurent Perriot, Andrew Pilkington, Doug Redenius, David A. Reinhardt, Pierre Rodiac, Graham Rye, Panos Sambrakos, Robert Sellers, Dr. Siegfried Tesche and Wolfgang Thuerauf.


In a professional capacity, we have both become involved in various aspects of the entertainment industry and so began to appreciate the work of the producers in a more professional context. We went from Bond fans to Bond scholars. As we delved deeper into the Bond mythos we realised there were many untold tales from many unsung heroes who played key creative roles in the series. We gained a renewed respect for not only how the series was founded but also how a Rolls Royce standard has been maintained.


This book was written to accompany the DVDs and the trove of Bond treasure already in the public domain. We have deliberately refrained from reviewing each film because every fan has their favourites and their guilty pleasures. This book is not a definitive ‘making-of volume’, but hopefully offers an insight into the reasons behind some of the creative and commercial decisions made. We are huge fans of the Ian Fleming Bond books and continuation novels, and encourage people to read a Bond adventure. However, the literary tale of Bond was not the remit of this volume.


We have sought to accurately cite our sources and provide a contextualised story of events. Over the years so many errors have entered the narrative, which have then been repeated as fact. We hope to rectify some of those myths with this book. Where stories have differed and recollections have been contradictory we have used our judgment to decide the version of events related. Where we have erred we do encourage the reader to contact us with any corrections by email: somekindofhero007@gmail.com.


This manuscript was conceived, in some form, over two decades ago, but the book you are reading is extremely recent. We have deliberately chosen to end our tale at the announcement of the 2015 film, SPECTRE. As you read this we hope you have digested the twenty-fourth Eon Bond film, then discussed – or probably argued over – it with friends and family. SPECTRE will undoubtedly be another great chapter in the remarkable story of the James Bond films.


In preparing this book many unlikely events occurred. In 2010 we attended the Edinburgh International Film Festival of which Sir Sean Connery was a patron. We found ourselves at a private festival party – a traditional Scottish ceilidh. We spent the evening plotting how to engineer an introduction to our carefully guarded host, Sir Sean. Many ideas were considered, from the sublime to the ridiculous. During our deliberations we were interrupted by an apologetic festival publicist, who politely enquired whether we would mind awfully posing with Sir Sean with a glass of red wine on behalf of the drinks sponsor. Generously we consented; five years later it was time to ask Sir Sean to repay that favour.


After contacting his fellow Bonds we wrote a lengthy plea to Sir Sean requesting an interview for this book. No response. We then sent a personal note to his home in the Bahamas. Nix. We telephoned his team but got nowhere. We planned trips to New York, Scotland and the Bahamas to finesse the interview but all came to naught. Finally, as our deadline approached, we gave it one last try and telephoned Sir Sean’s home in Paradise Island. After negotiating with an intermediary, miraculously, we were put through. The world’s most famous voice came on the line. A rather bad line. Sir Sean explained, ‘I cannot be responsible for the mail in this country because it goes to Jamaica first. We have a phone system and a mail system not to be envied.’ Sir Sean excused himself as he had a pressing engagement. He was open to rearranging an interview at a later date. Too late for this book!


SOME KIND OF HERO will return.


Matthew Field & Ajay Chowdhury
London, August 2015
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The authors share a glass of wine with 007 – Sean Connery.




PREFACE TO PAPERBACK EDITION


PRE-TITLE SEQUENCE


To take up the analogy in the introduction to the hardback of this book, our James Bond team called Spectre has played its match and left the field. The film was the second highest grossing worldwide in the series and carried off an Oscar for Best Original Song to boot. As usual, true Bond fans debate its merits but it now sits comfortably as a Blu-ray, DVD or download in collections around the world. And we wait to see what the team manager and players come up with next for Bond 25.


We are pleased to present our account of the making of the 24th Eon 007 film. There was a long tail on this ghost: Spectre represents the breadth and depth of the remarkable history of the James Bond films, being the culmination of the rich, contentious backstory of some of the plot elements and characters. We were granted fascinating, fresh interviews for the preparation of the additional chapters in this paperback and are deeply grateful to the following: Daniel Craig, Rory Kinnear, Steve Begg, Chris Corbould, Per Hallberg, Michael Lerman, Daniel Kleinman, John Logan, Callum McDougall, Debbie McWilliams, Gary Powell, Jany Temime, Neal Purvis, Robert Wade and especially to Sam Mendes.


The authors would also like to thank Sir Sean Connery for his input.


We have had the opportunity to clarify, correct and reconfigure the original text of this book and for assisting us with this, we thank the following eagle-eyed readers: Professor James Chapman, Udey Chowdhury, Joanna Clément (née Harwood), John Grover, Tim Partridge, Steven Saltzman and Alan Stephenson. For additional help we are grateful to: Greg Bechtloff, Daniel Couch, Anders Frejdh, Professor Sheldon Hall, M. David Mullen ASC, Steve Oxenrider, Vipul Patel, Doug Redenius, Mike Smith, Dave Worrall and, for special services, Brian James Smith, Mark Witherspoon and Gareth Owen.


This edition is dedicated to the memory of the late James Bond heroes Peter Janson-Smith, Sir Ken Adam, Lewis Gilbert and Guy Hamilton.


Matthew Field & Ajay Chowdhury
London, May 2018


[image: illustration]


The authors take their hardback to Pinewood Studios, 2016. (Matthew Field)




FOREWORD


THE OTHER FELLA


Ironically, for someone who didn’t want to get typecast as James Bond, it’s the one thing I always get asked about. It always comes back to 007. Over the years I became the rogue Bond, the guy who turned his back on the most coveted role in cinema. To this day journalists remain fascinated how a male model, who had never stepped on a movie set in his life, convinced two of the most powerful producers in the business that he was the guy to fill Sean Connery’s shoes. I guess it is a fascinating tale.


I had no fear when I went up for the role. I nearly died as a kid, and coupled with growing up in a rough Australian suburb, I threw myself 100 per cent into life. When I was cast in 1968, people around me felt that 007 was out of vogue, not current – part of the Establishment. I wasn’t a dedicated actor – I just wanted to have a good time: make love, not war.


Discussing my recollections of making On Her Majesty’s Secret Service for this book stirred many memories; chiefly, what it was like to be at the centre of the James Bond storm. One minute I was standing in Harry Saltzman’s office being offered the biggest role in showbusiness and then, eighteen months later, I was back in Australia where I started. I soon got back on my feet, however, and since then have lived so many lives and enjoyed and endured so many rich, life-changing experiences.


This year, I returned to Piz Gloria in Switzerland where I made the film, some forty-five years ago. I was warmed by the generations of people from all around the world who had come to celebrate my Bond film, which has aged like a vintage wine. It has gone on to become a firm favourite amongst 007 connoisseurs.


I’ve enjoyed contributing to SOME KIND OF HERO and I hope it both informs and entertains you. Matthew and Ajay have done a great job in telling my part of the remarkable story of the James Bond films.
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George Lazenby
Los Angeles, August 2015
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George Lazenby revisits Piz Gloria in 2015. (Matthew Field)
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Ian Fleming had always wanted his James Bond novels to be filmed. He understood that commercially more books were sold as a result of films being made from them – cinema reached larger audiences than libraries. In an amusing article titled ‘How to Write a Thriller’ Fleming admitted that he wrote ‘unashamedly, for pleasure and money’.1 The writer elaborated, ‘You don’t make a great deal of money from royalties and translation rights and so forth and, unless you are very industrious and successful, you could only just about live on these profits, but if you sell the serial rights and film rights, you do very well.’2


In correspondence to a friend in October 1952, months before the publication of his debut novel casino royale, Fleming stated, ‘What I want is not a publisher, but a “factory” that will shift this opus of mine like ‘Gone with the Naked and the Dead’. I am not being vain about this book but simply trying to squeeze the last dirty cent out of it.’3 Fleming’s blending of two of the biggest selling novels of the age – GONE WITH THE WIND by Margaret Mitchell and THE NAKED AND THE DEAD by Norman Mailer – was an example of his sly, often overlooked, humour that is to be found throughout his writing. However, it was also a sign of his ambition.


A further indication of Fleming’s aspirations was the bespoke typewriter he had specially made before finishing his debut novel: a Royal Quiet Deluxe model, but this one was gold-plated at a 1952 cost of $174.4 It represented a sizeable investment in his proposed future career and was a perfect example of Fleming’s style to complete the manuscript of a first novel with such a luxurious machine in his possession.


Fleming also purchased a small theatrical agency, Glidrose Productions Limited. Named after its principals, John Gliddon and Norman Rose, the company served primarily as a corporate vehicle for Fleming to assign the literary copyright of his novels. If royalties were to run to riches this shrewd act would save Fleming huge sums in taxes. This was in November 1952, five months before publication of his first novel.5 Undoubtedly this was a writer preparing for success.


Ian Fleming was born on 28 May 1908 at 27 Green Street in London’s exclusive Mayfair.6 His father, Valentine, was the son of Robert Fleming, a native Scot from Dundee, who had started work aged thirteen as an office boy with a local merchant.7 Robert Fleming went on to make a fortune by investing in the railways of the United States of America.8 He subsequently founded an eponymous merchant bank, which the Fleming family ran privately for generations to come.9 Robert’s actions certainly spoke louder than words in keeping with the Fleming clan motto – ‘Let the Deed Shaw.’10


Ian was dealt a severe blow early in life when his father was killed in action during World War I. Valentine’s widow, Eve, was left to raise her four sons – Peter (the eldest), Ian, Michael and Richard – on her own. While Valentine had left them financially comfortable it was on the condition that Eve did not remarry, and this branch of the family was effectively disinherited from the banking fortune.


While his eldest brother, Peter, was dutiful and diligent, Ian’s disrupted childhood made him more daring and dangerous. Having been educated at Eton and then in Kitzbühel, Austria, Fleming excelled at athletics, winter sports and foreign languages. He formed a deep love of motorcars and an even deeper love of women – his time at the Royal Military Academy, Sandhurst came to a discreet end after he contracted a ‘social disease’. After various attempts at a City career Fleming finally found firmer footing as a journalist, a career which allowed him to travel the world and meet extraordinary characters.


During World War II he served as the assistant to the Director of Naval Intelligence, Admiral Sir John Godfrey. Working in the Admiralty’s Room 39 in Whitehall Fleming was privy to many secret meetings and events; he gained first-hand experience of weapons and underwent specialist training. Fleming met tough commandos and German spies, and was frequently asked to come up with ingenious intelligence ideas to thwart the enemy.11


In particular Fleming had dealings with the Political Warfare Executive run by Denis Sefton Delmer; this unit was responsible for sending black propaganda to the Germans via radio communications. As part of a psychological war programme, the idea was to sap German morale, and Fleming’s language skills made him ideally suited for this task.12


All these experiences would find their way into his later work; Fleming brushed with the Establishment but was not quite part of it. As a restless, errant second son, Fleming enjoyed living on the edge of life. His Scottish background, his Etonian and Continental upbringing, womanising and observational journalism, as well as his close proximity to the intelligence world would all inform what many saw as his fantasy alterego: James Bond.


Ian Fleming began his book on the morning of ‘the third Tuesday in January’13 in 1952. On this day, he sat down to write what he called ‘the spy story to end all spy stories’.14 Working from Goldeneye, his holiday home in Jamaica, Fleming wrote quickly and with almost no notes. CASINO ROYALE drew upon experiences and extrapolations from his gambling days in Le Touquet and Deauville in France. The nub of the novel was based upon a real-life failed attempt to gamble away Nazi resources in Estoril, Portugal.15 Fleming’s first adventure was more a tone novella – incorporating exciting action on the green baize battlefield, as well as the streets of the fictional French seaside resort of Royale-les-Eaux and its environs. It was a tale of cheating and chance in life, love and death evoking strong sensations and the moral relativism of the Cold War.


Fleming saw James Bond as a modern anti-hero. His very name was a statement about how Fleming viewed his character. In a television interview shot at Goldeneye on 5 February 1964 Fleming recounted:




When I started to write these books in 1952, I wanted to find a name which wouldn’t have any of the romantic overtones, like Perriguine Carruthers. I wanted a really flat, quiet name. One of my bibles out here is James Bond’s BIRDS OF THE WEST INDIES and I thought, ‘James Bond, well now, that’s a pretty quiet name,’ so I simply stole it and used it.16





By chance, on the same day as that television interview, Fleming met the American ornithologist whose name he had stolen. Fleming inscribed a copy of his latest Bond novel ‘To the real James Bond, from the thief of his identity’.17


CASINO ROYALE is not strictly an origin story, exploring how James Bond came into being. By the time Bond enters the narrative, he is already a Double-0 (the prefix to his code number designating his licence to kill). Bond is chosen for the mission in the story because he has already displayed a penchant for gambling and high-risk situations. M is set up as the chief of the Secret Service – a stern father figure who happened to have been an admiral. Miss Moneypenny occupies a sentence or two and Q Branch is referred to tangentially in a technical capacity. Bond forms firm friendships with a variety of people, such as philosophical French agent René Mathis, a man from the CIA who resembles a blonde Frank Sinatra, Felix Leiter and, back in London, Bond’s best friend in the Service and M’s Chief-of-Staff, Bill Tanner. Fleming also offered from the outset a high-toned insider’s view of Bond’s world: his preferred car, an Amherst Villiers supercharged Bentley, the potent martini – shaken, not stirred – and a beautiful companion, in this case, the hard-nippled Vesper Lynd.


CASINO ROYALE was published in the UK on 13 April 1953 by Jonathan Cape Limited.18 Not one to miss a trick, Fleming had known the book would be published a couple of months before Queen Elizabeth II’s coronation, so had deliberately titled the book to cash in on royal fever and the modest first pressing of 4,750 copies sold out quickly.19 Meanwhile Fleming set about creating Bond’s second adventure, LIVE AND LET DIE, on his golden typewriter. Author and friend Paul Gallico predicted after reading CASINO ROYALE that Bond would be perfect for the silver screen, but it would take some time getting there.20


The American agency Curtis Brown fielded initial enquiries about the possibility of adapting the novel for the screen. Normally when a book is adapted to screen any potential adapter first purchases an option. An option is an agreement to lease the rights to that book for a period of time. During this time the producer will try to get certain elements together. These elements could be to hire a writer to pen a workable screenplay, get the commitment of stars and a director and to raise the funds for a production and secure distribution (generally in that order). Once the film goes into production a further, more substantial, sum is usually payable. An option is commonly a smaller percentage for the eventual sum payable if the film gets made. Once the option period has expired, the rights usually lapse and the author keeps any sums paid regardless of whether a film has been made. Throughout the fifties the option price on the Fleming books gradually rose as they increased in sales and visibility.


In 1953 early interest came from a number of parties. Associated British Pictures were interested in Bond, but wanted to only use the character as a springboard on which to base another film.21 The massive Music Corporation of America (MCA) enquired but this too came to naught.22


That same year veteran mogul of the British film industry, Sir Alexander Korda, expressed an interest in LIVE AND LET DIE, which, at that point, was still unpublished. Fleming was flattered by the interest, but Korda subsequently bowed out. This did not prevent Fleming pitching Korda his next, as yet unwritten, Bond novel – MOONRAKER. Fleming kept up the workflow and produced a new James Bond book every year. LIVE AND LET DIE was published in 1954 and MOONRAKER in 1955.


Curtis Brown sold what was effectively a licence to the Columbia Broadcasting System (CBS) to produce a one-off adaptation of CASINO ROYALE for $1,000; it was not an outright sale of the rights. On 21 May 1954 CBS broadcast a live one-hour adaptation of CASINO ROYALE as part of their Climax! series, sponsored by the Chrysler Corporation. It starred Barry Nelson as American ‘Card Sense’ Jimmy Bond who remembered, ‘This show was done live at CBS Television City on a budget of about $25,000.’23 Nelson was not proud of his debut as James Bond, ‘It needed rewriting, more time in rehearsal, a bigger budget. It was done in haste, the exotic flavour of the story was totally lost and they just dismantled the character.’24 Furthermore the female lead playing the first Bond girl, Valerie Mathis – not Vesper Lynd from the book – was not around, ‘Linda Christian missed rehearsals – she had just initiated a divorce from Tyrone Power – so that didn’t help the teamwork.’25 That team included noted Hungarian actor Peter Lorre, who played the first Bond villain – Le Chiffre. The live broadcast required last-minute editing to fit the running time, as Nelson remembered, ‘They went through and cut three words here, a line there, a half-a-word here, and the script ended up looking like a bad case of tic-tac-toe.’26 All this last-minute anxiety took its toll, as Nelson explained, ‘When some people get nervous, they get a facial twitch. Well, I had a body twitch. It was sheer fear. Peter Lorre saw me shaking and said, “Straighten up, Barry, so I can kill you!”‘27 Apocryphally after he is killed onscreen Lorre gets up and calmly walks off the set in full view of the cameras. Nelson was sanguine about the production years later, ‘[It was] really, truly funny and that’s too bad because it wasn’t supposed to be.’28


In May 1954 yet another film agent, John Shepridge of Famous Players, brokered a deal. He managed to sell a six-month option for CASINO ROYALE to Gregory Ratoff for $600.29 In this case, if CASINO ROYALE was filmed, Fleming would pocket a further $6,000. In March 1955 Ratoff decided to purchase the film rights outright. When the Bond novels were eventually sold, this was the reason why CASINO ROYALE could not be included as part of the deal – one book had escaped the net. Ratoff’s agent was the powerful Charles K. Feldman, a figure who would later loom large in the world of Bond.30 Ian Fleming, in a typical show of flair, bought a Ford Thunderbird to celebrate the sale.31


In spring 1954 Stanley Meyer, the producer of television’s Dragnet series at Warner Brothers, was looking for a new venture. He approached Fleming’s West Coast agent, ‘Swanee’ Swanson, for an option on LIVE AND LET DIE and MOONRAKER. Meyer’s offer was $500 for an option against $1,000 if the films were made. In what was to become a pattern Fleming held out for more money: he wanted $1,000 for the option against $25,000;32 the books were not sold.


In November 1955 Swanson fielded an offer for $1,000 for a nine-month option for MOONRAKER from actor/producer John Payne. This option sum would be set off against a payment to Fleming of $10,000 should production go ahead.33 However, back in England, the Rank Organization (the owners of Pinewood Studios) were interested in the same title. Fleming attempted to play the two parties off against each other, trying to get Rank into an auction with Payne – hoping to bump up the option price to $5,000. Potential legal ramifications clouded the film’s horizon with an angry Payne eventually dropping out of the deal. Rank now had an open goal to grab the rights. However, the heat had gone out of the deal and Rank also passed.34 Fleming claimed to have originally conceived MOONRAKER, his third novel, as a cinematic enterprise.


While the literary copyrights were retained by Glidrose Productions Limited, the film rights to the books were set up in trust for Fleming’s son Caspar.35


A number of patterns began to emerge which explained why film deals could not be closed despite Fleming’s Bond novels selling well. Chiefly, while his UK publishers, Jonathan Cape, were the only people authorised to handle film rights, Fleming had a range of agents informally dealing with his affairs, which complicated matters. Also, Fleming was either too vague about the deal or pitched his asking price too high. The rights situation became confusing for potential purchasers. One can easily see how the complex web of options, timelines and financial risk conspired to prevent a Bond film being made.


In 1956 Ratoff re-emerged and it was announced that a feature film of CASINO ROYALE would be filmed on locations in London and Italy ‘using top stars’ at a budget of $1.5 million.36 Intriguingly, according to a US report at the time, Fleming appears to have tried his hand at screenwriting:




Although the author has written an adaptation, Mr. Ratoff, who is now in Paris, is negotiating with a ‘noted scenarist, as well as with two well-known stars to play the leads’. The plan is to film it in CinemaScope and color this summer in England, Estoril in Spain and San Remo. Twentieth Century-Fox is slated to release this feature.37





Once again, nothing came of this.


Meanwhile, Fleming continued to write the novels: DIAMONDS ARE FOREVER was published in 1956 and FROM RUSSIA WITH LOVE emerged the next year. Fleming was ‘getting very fed up with Bond’38 and his fifth novel was an attempt to push the literary boundaries. FROM RUSSIA WITH LOVE culminated in a cliffhanger ending in which Bond collapses, seemingly poisoned to death.


In 1956 Fleming went on a wildlife expedition to the island of Inagua in the Bahamas with a party that included his friend Ivar Bryce. This trip formed the basis for Crab Key – the exotic island retreat of Fleming’s next villain. The research came in handy when, via Bryce, neophyte film producer Henry Morgenthau III approached Fleming to develop a television project. Aiming to boost the Jamaican tourist industry, Morgenthau came up with an idea ultimately entitled James Gunn – Secret Agent.


In August 1956 Fleming wrote a twenty-eight page outline, which Morgenthau III tried to develop into a television programme. Fleming received $1,000 against $2,000 if the pilot was accepted. Ultimately it was not and when the six-month option expired Fleming retained the rights, which he converted into his sixth book – DR. NO.


Published in spring 1958 DR. NO was the first of Fleming’s novels to outrage the British Establishment. Critic Paul Johnson dismissed it as ‘Sex, Sadism and Snobbery’,39 while sales skyrocketed. When a promising film offer was made for DR. NO Fleming now commanded an option fee of $3,000 against $30,000.40


It was at this moment that CBS approached Fleming for both a film and a television project. CBS chief, Bill Paley, was behind a project being prepared for a friend of his to be made in Monte Carlo. Paired with Greek shipping magnate Aristotle Onassis, Paley hired the now higher profile Fleming to develop a film.41 However, CBS’s head of television, Hubell Robinson, had independently approached Fleming for a television series. Now the author saw an even greater deal on the horizon. It was for Hubell that Fleming first wrote a memo describing how he saw James Bond on the screen. Fleming opposed:




too much stage Englishness. There should, I think, be no monocles, moustaches, bowler hats, bobbies or other ‘Limey’ gimmicks. There should be no blatant English slang, a minimum of public school ties and accents, and subsidiary characters should generally speak with a Scots or Irish accent. The Secret Service should be presented as a tough, modern organisation.42





Bond himself, should be a ‘blunt instrument wielded by a government department’.43 Fleming began developing numerous story outlines for thirty-two episodes.


Fleming suddenly had an embarrassment of film offers. As part of his CBS television deal, he had to stop the putative Dr. No film deal in its tracks44 – at some point Paley had discovered that his television colleague was also working on a Fleming project. In the end the CBS deals cancelled each other out and Fleming was once again back to the drawing board.45


In summer 1958 Fleming’s friend, American businessman Ned McLaine, set up a meeting for him to meet two London-based American film producers; lunch was arranged at the discreet Les Ambassadeurs Club in Mayfair. Present were Fleming, brothers Ned and Jacque McLaine, Fleming’s MCA agent – Bob Fenn and the two American producers. Fenn spoke about the then still live CBS television deal and the sales figures of DR. NO, but only one of the producers seemed to be talking. Fenn suggested that an option for all six books could be purchased for the sum of $50,000. The quieter of the two producers reacted,’Come on, how can you talk figures like that? I’m sorry gentlemen but these books aren’t even television material.’46 With that the American producer, whose name was Irving Allen, stormed out of the restaurant. He left his embarrassed business partner to apologise to Fleming et al. and pay the bill. The name of that business partner was Albert R. Broccoli.47


From January to February 1959 Fleming once again wrote up the ideas he had originally conceived for other media. The episodes for the television series became short stories: FROM A VIEW TO A KILL, RISICO, QUANTUM OF SOLACE, THE HILDEBRAND RARITY and the title story of the anthology: FOR YOUR EYES ONLY. They were collectively published the following spring.


It was in this context of false starts that Fleming’s childhood friend, the wealthy Ivar Bryce, re-entered the picture. Bryce had facilitated Fleming’s purchase of not only his golden typewriter, but also his Goldeneye hideaway. Now he suggested that they produce the first James Bond film themselves with material specifically written for the screen.48 Their mutual friend, Washington lawyer, Ernie Cuneo gave them the initial idea – gangsters steal an atomic bomb and hold the world to ransom.49 The friends looked outside the film industry for people to assist in bringing Bond to the screen. This fateful decision had consequences that echoed in cinemas and courtrooms, banks and boardrooms for decades to come.


Ivar Bryce hired a filmmaker whose 1959 feature, The Boy and the Bridge, he had financed; Kevin McClory was an Irish maverick who brought with him production experience, having been a veteran of productions like The African Queen (1951) and Around the World in Eighty Days (1956). McClory remembered how the project started: ‘I met Ian Fleming in 1958. At that time, I think he was a little bit dried up. When he met me I’d not read any of his novels. He couldn’t understand why no distributor had made a film of his novels.’50 Fleming was keen for an adaptation of an existing novel. McClory was blunt, ‘I said, “I don’t want to do any of them.” I could see his face drop.’ Instead, the Irishman outlined his ideas:




I was working on an underwater picture for the Bahamas [with John Steinbeck and Burgess Meredith]. I [saw] the potential, I am doing an underwater story, it’s set in The Bahamas. The Bahamas is perfect for Bond. It’s full of very, very rich individuals who have rather large yachts and large yachts attract nubile attractive young ladies who do not look at the girth of the owner they merely look at the size of the yachts.51





McClory had been inspired by something he had heard during World War II,




I read a statement by President Truman, when he was president [during the war], the Secretary of State, General Groves had come to him and said that it was possible that a small country or a group could obtain an atomic weapon and hold the world to ransom. The word “group” stood out.52





With a storyline ready, they sought a professional screenwriter. After much deliberation the man they initially chose was Paul Dehn, who had won an Oscar for Best Screenplay for the 1950 film Seven Days to Noon. Dehn then met with Fleming to discuss the project. However, in August 1959 the author wrote to Bryce:




Alas, Dehn can’t take the job for two excellent reasons. Firstly, he wrote a film in which London was held up by an atomic bomb. And secondly, he says that he is really only interested in the development of character in murderers etc. and this bang, bang, kiss, kiss stuff is not for him.53





Eventually, the team chose Jack Whittingham to help write the screenplay.54


Fleming had to leave the project, as McClory remembered ‘He was offered a job by The Sunday Times [to write THRILLING CITIES]. What did I think if he went off, could I complete this?’55 McClory was confident he could, ‘I’m dyslexic. I’m totally visual, screenwriting is a natural for me. He went off to do THRILLING CITIES, and Jack and I soldiered on.’56


Cuneo’s original idea, via a presidential tale, birthed Ernst Stavro Blofeld. Blofeld became the head of international criminal organisation SPECTRE (Special Executive for Counter-Intelligence, Terrorism, Revenge and Extortion).


At one point Alfred Hitchcock was approached as a director for the film.57 McClory remembered what happened with the work, ‘We wrote all the screenplays between 1959 and 1960.’58 The film project ultimately fell through.


As he had done with the material that formed his novel DR. NO and his collection of short stories FOR YOUR EYES ONLY, Fleming went back to his desk at Goldeneye and converted the screenplay into another novel – THUNDERBALL. When the book was published in early 1961 Fleming inscribed his gift copy to Ivar Bryce, ‘Zeus to this Thunderball’.59


Later he would write mournfully to Bryce, ‘Showbiz is a ghastly biz and the last thing I want is for you to lose your pin-striped trousers in its grisly maw. Nor of course do I want the first James Bond film to be botched.’60


In any event in December 1960 Fleming once again met with another film producer at Les Ambassadeurs.61 Mindful of his previous disastrous meeting with Allen and Broccoli, Fleming was probably not hopeful. However, it is possible his spirits lifted when he found out who he was meeting: a Canadian producer named Harry Saltzman.
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Harry Saltzman was born Herschel Saltzman on 27 October 1915. Raised in Quebec, his early years were a mystery, even to him. After spending the first seven years of his life in Saint John his father, a horticulturalist, moved to Cleveland with the family. Saltzman later revealed, ‘I didn’t find out until I was thirty that I’d actually been born in a hospital in Sherbrooke.’1


In 1932, aged seventeen, he went to Paris to study political science with economics, but was soon lured away by the smell of greasepaint. His third wife Adriana Saltzman said, ‘He was attracted by showbusiness from the age of six.’2 He began work for a musical theatre producer,3 ‘He told [Harry] a lot of things and that is how he started.’4 He was sent around travelling circuses and vaudeville houses all over Europe handpicking talent.5


At the beginning of World War II Saltzman served in the Royal Canadian Air Force in Vancouver,6 however, his war career is shrouded in intrigue. In a letter dated September 1943 Robert E. Shepherd, director of operations for the US Office of War Information (OWI) – the department involved with psychological war operations – stated, ‘Mr. Saltzman will be assigned to the North African theatre of war to serve on the staff of Mr. C.D. Jenkins, Deputy Director in charge of all Office of War Information operations in North Africa.’7 A further letter from Shepherd dated December 1943 said, ‘Mr. Saltzman’s services are more urgently needed in London … to serve at the American Embassy as Assistant Representative of the Overseas Operations Branch of the Office of War Information. Mr. Saltzman’s principal function will be to serve as a motion picture distributor.’8 The letter suggested that Saltzman would be billeted at the Dorchester Hotel. Bond historian and film writer, David Giammarco noted:




During the war, British intelligence secretly held whole floors of offices at a number of hotels, including the Dorchester and the Landmark. An enlisted man of limited salary could hardly afford to be living in a five-star hotel. But intelligence officers and assets could come and go within these hotels without suspicion.9





Giammarco also uncovered Saltzman’s Oath Of Allegiance to the United States dated March 1939. It misidentifies Saltzman’s place of birth as St. Johns, New Brunswick and the author suggests, ‘False birth places are standard procedure in intelligence filing systems’.10 This could also explain Saltzman’s confusion over his birthplace.


The paper trail points to Harry Saltzman being a spy and with his command of foreign languages, as well as his knowledge of Europe, it is likely that he played an active role in US intelligence during World War II. Even more intriguingly Saltzman operated in exactly the same field as Ian Fleming for a period – psychological warfare – and during this time Saltzman and Fleming were both in London. Giammarco spoke to retired intelligence officers who ‘seemed to feel that Ian and Harry had a prior relationship well before [their first recorded meeting in] 1961.’11 It may well have been that Harry Saltzman and Ian Fleming worked together in two fields of espionage: one actual and, later on, one fictional.


In 1945 Saltzman assisted in setting up a film division for the United Nations Educational Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO). The division was primarily established to aid Chinese philosopher Lin Yutang in his work to ease tensions in China, where a civil war between the Nationalists and Communists was still being fought. However, Saltzman was disheartened by the assignment: ‘East-West differences seemed so hopeless, I quit.’12


Piecing together Saltzman’s post-war life is like assembling a mosaic of miscellaneous pieces. In a sign of what was to come Saltzman would, even at this point, have many business and personal interests, which would necessitate him regularly commuting across the Atlantic.13


After a brief and unsuccessful marriage, which produced Harry’s daughter Merry,14 Saltzman left his then home in California and ended up in Paris after World War II, living near the Etoile.15 Amongst other things, Saltzman worked as a production manager on the live television show, Robert Montgomery Presents in New York. It was here that he formed a relationship with future best-selling author Judith Krantz. She remembered Harry as ‘a wonderful companion, with a fantastic imagination. He resembled a giant panda as much as a human can.’16 Krantz was further impressed that Harry knew the famous French writer Colette but was warned off a romantic entanglement, ‘Harry’s much too sophisticated to be interested in a little girl like you. You think you’ve been around? Well, Harry’s a guy who’s really been around, not just one quick year in Paris.’17 Krantz remembered that one of his businesses at the time ‘consisted of wooden horses that he rented to carnivals and vacation hotels.’18 Judith could have been the next Mrs. Saltzman but she refused his proposal of marriage, ‘He thought it was because he didn’t have any money. “Listen”, Harry assured me, “I’m going to make money, I promise. I can make ten thousand a year, twenty, thirty – I could probably make fifty thousand a year!”’19 They drifted apart, but Harry would more than make good on his dreams.


Soon afterwards Harry had his first success when he went on to produce the hit television show Captain Gallant of the Foreign Legion from France. It was around about this time that Harry met a refugee from Romania, Jacqueline Colin, in Paris. She became the love of his life and mother to three more children – Steven, Hilary and Christopher.20


Another woman who would play a significant role in Harry’s life was Johanna Harwood. Harwood had not previously spoken in detail about her role in the James Bond films until the authors tracked her down to the south of France. Now an elderly widow living in Monte Carlo, Harwood remembered being an ambitious young Scots-Irish girl eager to make a career in the film industry; she would go on to be an important, but unsung figure in the future of 007.


For two years in France Harwood trained in all aspects of film production. As a result, upon returning to Ireland, Harwood was constantly in work.21 She met Harry Saltzman, after working in continuity for several years:




I soon realised very few continuity girls do anything else afterwards. I wanted to get out of continuity and go into scriptwriting. I went to work for Famous Artists – the agency. They had a London office and there was just the man who worked for them and me as his assistant. The man I was working for was John Shepridge, who was a friend of Harry Saltzman. And then at one point John Shepridge went to work in Paris for [the Head of Twentieth Century-Fox, Darryl F.]. Zanuck and he let the office to Harry Saltzman. What I hadn’t understood at the time he was also letting me with the office. I didn’t like this at all and told Harry Saltzman when he turned up assuming I was going to work for him. So he said ‘What do you want to do?’ and I said ‘I want to write scripts.’ And he said ‘Well you stay on as my assistant and I’ll let you write scripts for me.’ He had read a script I had written.22





Harwood observed Saltzman closely as he flitted between Paris, New York and London for the best part of the next decade.


Hilary Saltzman remembered her father was a ‘voracious reader and he loved history and he loved geography, and he loved learning about new things and developing new ideas. He loved the theatre.’23 Harry’s first venture into feature films proved to be the template for his future way of working. Taking critically acclaimed literary material – in this case, a play – he adapted it into colourful entertainment, featuring a big star of the day. The result was The Iron Petticoat made in 1956 starring Bob Hope.


Also in 1956 the Royal Court Theatre in Sloane Square, London launched its first season, establishing it as a ‘writer’s theatre’.24 New material from contemporary playwrights, eager to make cultural change, was staged there. One such playwright was John Osborne, whose play, Look Back in Anger, directed by Tony Richardson, was a startling revelation at the time.


In 1957 the Royal Court presented in New York and got Saltzman involved. Tony Richardson recalled meeting Harry:




He had a perfect mogul’s figure – stocky, tubby – crinkly grey hair and the face of an eager, coarse cherub. He bubbled with plans, and he had great charm. He was a splendid raconteur. By his generosity, in big and small things – he always loved to give – he radiated affluence.’25





Richardson was in thrall, ‘What Harry was able to exude in abundance was potential. You always knew he would somehow, somewhere, discover the magic carpet that would transport you to riches. His schemes veered wildly.’26 Richardson recounted some of those schemes, including selling ‘Blue Chip Stamps’ to exchange for Broadway theatre tickets, thereby cornering the market.27 ‘Harry was a sublime hustler’, he concluded.28


Saltzman eventually did get backing for the project as Richardson remembered:




Harry persuaded Warner Brothers to finance the movie. To do it, we formed a company. We called it Woodfall. John and Mary Ure [Woodfall alumni] had rented a little house in Woodfall Street, Chelsea. As we hadn’t a name, we just looked out the window, saw the sign and christened our enterprise.29





Using his commercial contacts, Harry provided much-needed financial clout to launch the new venture consisting of himself, Osborne and Richardson. Together the energetic producer, the vituperative playwright and the eccentric director formed the film company that would change British cinema in the late fifties.


Saltzman moved to London and Tony Richardson recalled the energy he brought with him:




He rented a house in the fashionable part of Chelsea – Lowndes Cottage. Harry immediately installed a mini-empire. Secretaries, chauffeurs, multilingual cooks arrived from wherever: international hookers rotated in the guest rooms. Hollywood stars like Kirk Douglas and Burt Lancaster, producers like Charlie Feldman, were often guests. Harry was totally in charge of the business side. It was great fun. Harry created a wonderful atmosphere and I – and John too – enjoyed every minute of it.30





Not everybody understood or enjoyed the constant parties as Johanna Harwood explained:




[Harry] didn’t pay the rent on [Lowndes Cottage], it was paid for by Woodfall Productions. Tony Richardson would arrive at what he considered the office and straight into their bedroom. Poor Jacqueline Saltzman used to complain bitterly but she probably didn’t realise it was Woodfall Productions paying the rent.31





Osborne remembered Saltzman’s singular style:




‘What do you want to eat tonight?’ he’d ask. ‘French, German, Italian, Jewish? I know the best Finnish restaurant in town.’ One always, rightly, chose the best in town. A week later he might ask the same question. ‘Well, that Finnish place was terrific. Why don’t we … ’ He would cut you off like some blundering toddler. ‘Forget it. I know a much better place.’ I don’t think we ever went back to a best-restaurant-in-town.32





Harwood remembered Saltzman ‘was a very sociable person in, or on the fringes of, the London jet set.’33


On the fringes, Harwood felt, because he did things differently: ‘Harry Saltzman had a fearful habit of working breakfasts and he’d call people in for breakfasts. Anytime he needed to get something across me it would be at breakfast time.’34 She also noted, ‘[Saltzman’s] big fault was that he was tactless. He was always rubbing people up the wrong way because he was saying things, unkind things but he wasn’t actually unkind. He never thought this might upset this person.’35 Despite his quirks, Harwood understood what Saltzman brought to the table, ‘He was an extraordinarily good salesman. If he had one really big quality, I would say it was he could sell anything. He could go off with an idea and sell it to anybody. What he couldn’t do later was develop the idea.’36


Saltzman, Osborne and Richardson would introduce Britain to ‘the kitchen sink drama’. As a trio they brought to the screen the critically acclaimed social realism pictures Look Back in Anger (1959) starring Richard Burton, Saturday Night and Sunday Morning (1960) starring Albert Finney and The Entertainer (1960) starring Laurence Olivier. Saltzman had proven adept at finding regional British actors and making stars of these diamonds in the rough. Osborne and Richardson crafted the films but, as director of photography Oswald Morris recalled, ‘Harry tried to get on the floor when we did Look Back in Anger and The Entertainer but Tony wouldn’t have him on the floor.’37


Saltzman expressed his vision for Woodfall in an essay written in 1960:




I believe there is a place in Britain for realistic, hard-hitting films which take chances and show the well trodden paths of stereotyped, purely commercial, film-making. We did not form Woodfall Productions from an arty-crafty point of view. We are extremely commercial-minded and we regard the properties we have as commercial properties. But the most important thing about our company is that we insist on having artistic control of our pictures. We want to make them honestly. In other words, we control the script, the cast, the shooting and the completion of the picture. We won’t allow our distributors or the people who back us to tell us how to make a picture. It’s a hard road, we’re the only people doing this in England and it is a battle all the time.38





However, the vanguard of this English ‘new wave’ soon lost the will to fight. The problem was art was not lucrative. Saltzman had written that he thought, ‘these [Woodfall] pictures will export.’39 An early sign proved ominous as he recounted:




While I was on honeymoon, I took Look Back in Anger to Jack Warner to show him; after all, his company had financed it, so I figured he should see it. Jack and I looked at it and after about seven or eight minutes, Jack said, ‘What language are they talking?’ ‘English,’ said I. ‘This is America,’ said Jack and got up and walked out.40





Despite his assertions in Films and Filming magazine, Saltzman later admitted, ‘[Look Back in Anger] didn’t do much business anywhere in the world. I never made a film that got such good reviews and was seen by so few people.’41


Harry’s self-confidence remained undimmed. Sometimes he would advise other professionals on their own jobs, like when he criticised a United Artists’ executive about the theatre he had chosen to open a film at in Paris. The executive recalled Saltzman admonishing him, ‘“How could you do such a thing – you’re destroying this film by opening in that theatre?”’42 The executive was Eric Pleskow who worked for United Artists at the time in international distribution. He jokingly responded to Saltzman’s criticism, ‘“Well, actually I’ll explain it to you, I’m an underground person and I’m working for Paramount and I’m trying to destroy United Artists, that’s why I put it in that theatre.”’43 Pleskow, who would go on to head the studio behind Saltzman’s biggest success, was amused by the producer, ‘[Harry] considered himself an expert on almost everything at that time.’44


Towards the end of 1960, Saltzman left Woodfall hoping to find fortune. Osborne was disappointed:




I had a farewell meeting with Harry, who had decided that it was time to end his association with Woodfall. I had hoped he hadn’t regretted it and I don’t believe he did. But Tony [Richardson] and I had become like last week’s greatest restaurants. I had enjoyed Harry’s company when he was at his effervescent best, before marriage tamed his bravado. He had fairground flair and uncanny taste. [Woodfall] saw the light in Harry’s bustling brown eyes … without him, [it] would never have got started. He never disowned the rest, although failure to make money was the most damnable sin of his trade.45





Michael Deeley, future Oscar-winning film producer of The Deer Hunter (1978), worked in production at the time and observed Saltzman and his partners. Deeley’s shrewd analysis of the workings of Woodfall was tougher than Osborne’s:




Saltzman’s ascerbic attitude led to his early departure from the partnership. Harry was a hard bastard, extremely brusque. If he saw no advantage in having a conversation with you he likely wouldn’t reply to ‘Good morning’. His lovely wife made up for a lot of her husband’s roughness, but there was a vulgarity to Harry that didn’t sit well with Richardson or Osborne. These two were both of striking height and each, in his own way, very English. Harry was a short, round, Canadian and had once been a circus barker. Loaded with aggression, he loved to cause an argument.46





When Osborne enquired what he was doing after Woodfall, ‘[Harry] told me, shoulders twitching with excitement, “I’ve bought the Bond books. All of them.”’47


Harry Saltzman later remembered his conduit to Fleming, ‘I had read the books and my lawyer in London, Brian Lewis, happened to be the same as Ian’s lawyer.’48 Over lunch in Les Ambassadeurs Lewis had encouraged Fleming to do a deal with Saltzman for commercial reasons. Fleming’s ill health meant if no rights were sold, the trust value of his estate would be artificially low, based on the price of the Ratoff sale in 1954.49 Fleming had told Saltzman the last film he had seen was Gone with the Wind (1939) and that he considered cinema a low form of art. Saltzman met the challenge, ‘Well, I’d like you to see my films,’ and proceeded to show Fleming Saturday Night and Sunday Morning.50 Fleming was hardly a kitchen sink fan, but perhaps their respective war histories were exchanged and a rapport formed. For the sum of $50,000 – the amount Irving Allen had baulked at a few years before – Fleming promptly granted Saltzman a six-month option of the film rights to the existing James Bond novels. Fleming told fellow journalist Roderick Mann on a flight after signing the deal, ‘“What do you think? Two films? Three? That should be about it surely. Then the joke will be over.”’51


Based on the information that later came to light regarding Saltzman’s wartime intelligence career, his daughter Hilary, ‘strongly believe[s] that [Fleming] and my father shared some similar experiences. Even though they couldn’t publicise it, I really think that Ian felt that this series was safe in my father’s hands.’52


Saltzman promptly asked Johanna Harwood to write a short synopsis of each of the books, she recalled:




I’d written several screenplays for Saltzman by this time, of course, none of which he’d made because he didn’t get them off the ground. But I’d done a good few. It’s always the same – the producer needs a cheap screenplay but until they set up the affair they have no money. So that was why I was so terribly useful to have about because I was unknown and cheap. He wanted the screenplay in a hurry because he had to show it around to people.53





Harwood had actually written a short Bond story, ‘Some Are Born Great’, published in Nursery World magazine on 3 September 1959:




[Fleming] wrote them a letter back, which [they] sent on to me – a very nice little letter which said ‘a delicious little poke at James Bond’. I don’t think he ever knew it was me. It just sort of amused me, the way he writes, it was something that flashed through my mind and I thought that would be fun. I sent it to Nursery World because I thought they would be the most likely to publish it.54





She wrote the piece as ‘J.M. Harwood’ and explained, ‘Nobody called me Johanna in those days. I used J.M. because we were still in the days when women writers didn’t necessarily want to appear as woman writers.’55 It is doubly ironic that this intelligent, adventurous and ambitious woman became the first official writer of the James Bond film series.


Two novels could not be included in the sale. CASINO ROYALE had been sold previously to Gregory Ratoff and Fleming’s most recent book THUNDERBALL, at this point, had not been published. Indeed, Fleming’s ninth book was beset by problems. Kevin McClory had been set to direct a film based on the screenplay written by himself and professional screenwriter Jack Whittingham and author Ian Fleming. McClory had discovered Fleming’s novel then used these ideas, but did not credit the team behind them. McClory later recalled, ‘Our last screenplay was called “Thunderball”. We only saw the book ten days before publication. We knew he was writing a book [but we didn’t know that one]. We were friends and fellow co-writers. We took him to court.’56 Fleming had merely followed his old pattern of converting unused film and television material into the book he was writing. Fleming’s literary agent, Peter Janson-Smith recalled, ‘Ian was genuinely upset that they thought he deliberately plagiarised them. I think he sort of remembered and he added things. A couple of months or whatever later when Ian was writing his book, he just didn’t remember that maybe somebody else had suggested this or suggested that.’57 McClory and Whittingham had immediately sought an injunction to assert their co-ownership. In spring 1961 the book was eventually published but the legal action had precluded anyone else exploiting THUNDERBALL.


The value of the Ian Fleming novels had leapt due to the 17 March 1961 edition of Life magazine in which Fleming’s fifth and pivotal Bond novel, FROM RUSSIA WITH LOVE, had been listed as the ninth favourite book of the year by the most powerful man on earth: President Kennedy.58 President Kennedy’s endorsement spread like wildfire across the world. As a personal acquaintance of the president, Fleming could not have been more pleased. To say Bond’s stock was rising would be a considerable understatement. Fleming’s works became the first global, literary phenomenon, arguably creating a new genre: the spy thriller. The books were selling in the tens of millions and Fleming became an international celebrity – all this without a single film being made.


As spring became summer Saltzman was unable to obtain financing, an agreement with a production company or a distributor for the proposed project. He was essentially an outsider, unknown in film circles, despite his modest success as an independent producer. He was all too aware that Fleming, meanwhile desperate for a film deal, would walk away with the option fee and would still be able to sell what was fast becoming an even more valuable property.59 Time was ticking. Suddenly he had a change of fortune – Saltzman’s friend, the screenwriter Wolf Mankowitz called him with a strange request; Mankowitz wanted him to meet someone – Albert R. Broccoli.
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Albert Romolo Broccoli was born in Queens, New York City on 5 April 1909. Broccoli’s family had first cultivated the vegetable bearing their name in Italy centuries before immigrating to the United States. The family were very poor, as Broccoli’s third wife, Dana, later recalled, ‘before there was any subsidy by the Government and they were sad days and hard days.’1


One morning, while working on the family farm before school, Cubby saw the then rare sight of a plane, the Spirit of St. Louis, flying overhead. He distinctly remembered being waved to by its pilot Charles Lindbergh. The daring aviator inspired the young farm boy from Long Island to walk a little taller. Cubby later told Dana, that it was ‘the first time he really wanted to be something above and beyond what he was.’2


Over time Albert earned his nickname Cubby. He recalled:




There was a famous cartoonist, his name was Herschfield and he had a cartoon called Abe Kabibble and in school they likened me to Abe Kabibble. Then they got tired of that and they called me Kabibble. Then that was too much and they called me Cubby. Everybody thinks it was because I was cuddly.3





There is, however, another version of how Broccoli got his moniker. According to Dana, ‘When he was a very little boy he had a cousin – they were six weeks apart, they’re like twins – and his cousin [Pasquale De Cicco] just could not say “Albert” so he called him “Cubby”.’4


Cubby left the family business in Long Island on the East Coast and went west. The cousin he had grown up with, Pasquale (now calling himself ‘Pat’), was working as an agent and producer in Hollywood. Moreover, Pat had married heiress Gloria Vanderbilt in 1941. De Cicco invited his cousin to join him and begin a career away from the family farm.5


Future Bond film director Guy Hamilton recalled stories told to him by Cubby from this era:




When he was assistant director, he would be sent to call Errol Flynn or Gable, or whoever it was from the caravan and they’d say, ‘Cubby, one dollar that fly on the wall will land before the other one.’ ‘You’re on,’ says Cubby. And poor Cubby lost all his wages. They took such pity on him that Cubby was always invited to whatever party was happening this weekend. But whether he wins or loses isn’t important, this is the true gambling thing – it is the buzz. It’s like taking a drug. Winning, losing not important.6





Another time, Cubby was in a bar and was challenged by a stranger to guess the result of a coin flip, Cubby made a wager but repeatedly lost. The stranger, amused by Cubby’s resolve, turned out to be film producer, mogul and inventor Howard Hughes.7 Through him Cubby got a job as an assistant to director Howard Hawks. This led to Cubby working on the infamous 1939 film The Outlaw and other films for Hawks and Hughes.8 Hawks was an early fan of Fleming’s, ‘I wanted to do the Bond series. The great imagination that the writer had.’9


Cubby spent World War II in the US Navy where he served in the Entertainment Division with another future film producer Ray Stark.10 When he was demobbed, Cubby became a representative at the powerful Charles K. Feldman’s Famous Artists Agency. It was here that Cubby learned his trade and earned the admiration of one of his young clients Robert Wagner, who recalled, ‘He believed in me. When I was with him, I was his guy. He had a lot of other clients but he had that ability to make everybody feel like they were the only one in his life.’11 Wagner liked Cubby’s chutzpah. After an argument between Feldman and L.B. Mayer of MGM, all Famous Artists agents were banned from the lot. Wagner was horrified when he and Cubby ‘got tossed out of the Thalberg building and I thought my career was coming to an end. I said, “Cubby, do you think I’ll ever work again?”’12 Cubby’s response was cool under fire, ‘“Come on kid, let’s go to Fox!”’13


Eventually Broccoli tired of being an agent. Robert Wagner felt that ‘Charlie Feldman was a big influence in his life. Cubby had that ability to recognise good writing and he wanted to go further than just managing people and their careers.’14 During this period he had a short-lived marriage to starlet Gloria Blondell.15 In 1946 Cubby worked on ‘a smaller kind of nonsense called Treasury Agent [also titled Avalanche], which I’d made on a six-day schedule and an $80,000 budget, most borrowed from my cousin, Pat De Cicco. My cousin took producer credit, leaving me coming in at the tail-end as production manager.’16 The film introduced Cubby to the company lawyer Arthur Krim.17 Krim would be more helpful to Cubby fifteen years later when he was running the studio United Artists. Another key introduction the film made was with its director: Irving Allen. Allen was already an Oscar-nominated director and would actually go on to win an Academy Award a year later for Best Short Subject (Two Reel) for Climbing the Matterhorn in 1947.18


In 1952 Cubby met up with Irving Allen in New York and they decided to form a production company, so, named after the hotel in which their business partnership was formed, Warwick Film Productions was born. With his recent Academy Award success, Allen was seen as the artistic heavyweight of the duo, yet despite their credentials, their initial attempts to raise financing in the USA faltered. However, Cubby recalled they were attracted by the tax incentives for filmmakers now being offered in Europe and were further induced to leave America by the air of creative freedom away from the McCarthy witch hunts plaguing the film capital of the world. Broccoli remembered later, ‘I’ve never produced a picture in Hollywood. When I tried to make a deal they laughed at me. I wanted to shoot here, but people wouldn’t even talk to me.’19 So, in the year Ian Fleming sat down to write the first James Bond novel, Albert R. Broccoli travelled to England to begin a new life.


During this period there were strict currency controls in place that prevented box office receipts in Europe being sent back to the USA; many European businesses partnered American firms in order to release these frozen funds by making films which could then be shown in the USA, thus generating dollars. As a result film investment boomed – it was effectively a Marshall Plan for the European film industry. In the UK the Eady Levy provided an additional incentive to make films there. The levy (named after Treasury official Sir Wilfred Eady) was effectively a tax on cinema tickets – a proportion of the ticket price was retained by cinemas and a proportion returned to production companies who had made ‘British’ films, i.e. films made with key British talent. As the size of the rebate was linked to the number of tickets sold, the more successful the picture, the more money the production companies received. Basically popular films were rewarded.20


Warwick Films needed to make a big splash with their first production. Director Guy Hamilton later recounted what was required, ‘Cubby was really the foundation of their success because they had the scripts but they needed a star for the finance.’21 Securing a star for a series of independent productions made in England was not easy. Hamilton remembered how Cubby did it:




The biggest star at that period was Alan Ladd and Irving Allen said, ‘You’ll never get him’ and Cubby said, ‘I know his wife – she’s really his agent – and if we offer her a million dollars … ’ Irving replied, ‘Cubby, we haven’t got a million dollars.’ Cubby countered, ‘If we get Alan Ladd, we will. It will be the highest salary that any US star has got and she’ll fall for it.’ She did. And Warwick took off.22





Having secured Ladd, Columbia Pictures agreed to distribute Warwick’s pictures. Ladd starred in the Warwick productions The Red Beret (1953), The Black Knight (1953) and Hell Below Zero (1954). Ladd’s son, Alan Ladd Jr., recalled, ‘I was with my father at the time. [Cubby] was a warm, very lovely man. My father adored him.’23 Coming full circle, in the 1980s, Ladd Jr. would go on to head the studio that produced the Bond films.


The Red Beret was directed by Terence Young, a history graduate from the University of Cambridge, who was born in Shanghai. During World War II, he had served in the Guards Armoured Division and after the war directed films in the UK, France and Germany.24 Young would go on to direct Safari and Zarak (both 1956) and No Time to Die (1958) for Warwick. The film was rewritten by screenwriter and playwright Richard Maibaum, a native of Chicago who had written several films for Ladd including an early spy picture, O.S.S. (1946) and an adaptation of The Great Gatsby (1949). Maibaum remembered being in America when ‘Cubby showed up in my living-room. The Ladds had told him they’d like me to script so Cubby signed me up.’25 Maibaum wrote unpretentious, entertaining screenplays for Warwick that were designed to make British or Commonwealth subjects play in America. Irving Allen later opined that Warwick’s deliberate, non-parochial film-making was ‘so important in attracting people back to the theatres’.26


Warwick’s first post-Alan Ladd hit was Cockleshell Heroes (1955), directed by and starring José Ferrer about the daring World War II mission, Operation Frankton. In 1956 Warwick negotiated a deal to produce nine films for Columbia Pictures over three years at a cost of £6 million. Warwick later took advantage of an empire development scheme that provided British grants to producers who filmed on location in Commonwealth nations. The company filmed in Kenya for Safari and Odongo (both, 1956). The films were scripted and cast in five weeks, in order to shoot them back-to-back; they featured the same characters on location to save time and costs. Warwick also filmed in India for Zarak (1956).


The majority of Warwick’s output was shot by South African Ted Moore. Moore moved to the UK in 1930 and during World War II served as a pilot and as a member of the RAF’s Film Unit.27 He was the camera operator for Cinematographer Jack Cardiff on the arduous location shoot for The African Queen (1951).28 At Warwick, Moore started as a camera operator before progressing through the ranks to become cinematographer on A Prize Of Gold (1954), starring Richard Widmark. Moore’s output at Warwick showed his skill at working on exotic locations and capturing simple, elegant shots in bright Technicolor (Warwick was the first British independent company to shoot in CinemaScope).29


The team at Warwick ensured that they made their tight budgets go a long way and that the production value reached the screen – key to this was the art department whose settings ensured the films had cinematic appeal. At the latter end of their run, Warwick hired Ken Adam to design, as he put it, ‘profitable crap’.30 Adam had arrived in London in 1934 after having to flee from Berlin.31 During World War II he ended up flying in the RAF, making him the only German émigré to do so.32 He was urbane and stylish and was influenced by the minimalism of German expressionist cinema. Around this time, Broccoli noted the efficiency of a Warwick stalwart in the art department, Syd Cain, and earmarked him for future development.33


Warwick’s films often featured action sequences performed by Bob Simmons and many of them had bright title songs. Peter Hunt edited the films and Warwick had a stock company of regular actors, which included: Bernard Lee, Anthony Newley, Anita Ekberg, Francis De Woolf, Walter Gotell, Sydney Tafler, Desmond Llewelyn – all names who would later be connected with the Bond series. The parallels to the future Bonds films were obvious – full-colour features shot on real locations, packed with ambitious action, filmed on a relatively tight budget, starring international actors and often based on a best-selling contemporary novel.


Cubby Broccoli had maintained a good working friendship with Mike Frankovitch, head of production for Columbia in the UK. However, generally relations with Columbia had become strained; Warwick’s output had consistently been successful, but they were only as good as their last picture. Fire Down Below (1957) had gone over budget with filming in Trinidad and Tobago, and the demands of its mercurial star Rita Hayworth.


Cubby was something of a junior partner under Irving Allen’s hefty, Oscar-winning shadow; they had very different management styles. Future Bond production designer, Ken Adam, after pitching a proposal with future Bond alumni, Maurice Binder, remembered being thrown out of the office by Allen, ‘[Allen was] very explosive and vulgar at times, but a good showman. Cubby used to collect the wreckage and urge you not to take Irving seriously.’34 Adam summed up his impression of Allen with, ‘He had one great asset that he was a very good editor so nobody could pull the wool over his eyes. He was not a very friendly person. I thought that Irving was in many ways a monster.’35


This disparity between Allen and Broccoli would soon cost them a vital film project: James Bond. Broccoli had always believed the Fleming novels could lead to a successful series of films; Allen did not. In the summer of 1958 Cubby was distracted because he had to care for his second wife Nedra – who was stricken with cancer, and bring up their children Tony and Tina. It was during this period that Cubby and Irving were also trying to secure the Bond novels. They met with Ian Fleming in a setting that must have, by now, become familiar to the author – Les Ambassadeurs. It was at this meeting that Irving Allen had denounced Bond to Fleming’s face, suggesting, ‘These books aren’t even television material.’36 Broccoli was not deterred. The CASINO ROYALE rights were still out there, owned by Gregory Ratoff. When Ratoff died from leukaemia in December 1960, Cubby remembered, ‘I tried to buy the property from the widow. She wasn’t in the mood to sell.’37 The reason for her reluctance to part with the rights was a case of fate again intervening; she was represented by none other than Cubby’s old boss at Famous Artists Agency, Charles K. Feldman. Cubby was rueful, ‘Charlie told her “You shouldn’t sell it.” He was quite intelligent and a rather crafty sort of a chap and he decided that he was going to get that property and purchase it.’38 That, it seemed, was that.


Nedra succumbed to cancer, adding personal woes to professional ones. Warwick’s critically acclaimed The Trials of Oscar Wilde (1960), directed by Ken Hughes, had been a box office disappointment. After several disagreements with Columbia Pictures, Warwick Productions effectively ceased trading in 1961. Irving and Cubby formally went their separate ways. Cubby recalled, ‘Any time one of us particularly wanted to do something, the other didn’t. I was ready to go solo.’39 Allen and Broccoli continued to share their offices in South Audley Street, in London’s salubrious Mayfair district, well into the sixties but as producers, they were on their own.


Things were not all bad for Cubby; he found love again with Dana Wilson. Wilson was a talented writer who had been married to the first screen Batman, Lewis Wilson, and together they had had a son, Michael. Cubby and Dana got married on 21 June 1959 with Cary Grant as their best man;40 soon they would all be in London together.


Wolf Mankowitz was a veteran writer on the British film scene. He was well connected and well known, having been a co-founder of the famed showbusiness restaurant The White Elephant on Curzon Street. In 1961 Wolf found himself toiling with Cubby Broccoli over a film version of ONE THOUSAND AND ONE ARABIAN NIGHTS when fate came to their aid.41


Frustrated at the lack of progress with the Arabian Nights project, Cubby still regretted missing the opportunity to secure the Bond film rights. He made enquiries and when he found that the option had been taken out by another producer, he ‘was uncertain whether to wait for it to expire or to start talking there and then’.42 Broccoli’s enquiries led to Saltzman who owned the option. It was a stroke of luck as Broccoli knew Mankowitz, who, in turn, knew Saltzman:




Wolf Mankowitz said, ‘I know [Saltzman] … he hasn’t been able to make a deal and there are twenty-one days left on his option.’ The next day, in came Harry Saltzman. I didn’t want another partner after Irving Allen and I had broken up. I told Saltzman I wanted to buy the Bond books, but he dismissed the Bonds as a bit of nonsense, and said, ‘I’d like to go into business with you. I’ve got a property called Gold in the Streets. It’s about going to New York and getting rich. Then I’ve got something else about a scarecrow who comes to life.’ I told him I was only interested in the Bond books. He finally said, ‘Why don’t we do them together?’ Well, I was afraid that someone else would acquire them and I finally agreed to a 50/50 partnership.43





Broccoli first approached his friend Mike Frankovich at Columbia Pictures, hoping their Warwick history would seal the deal. Frankovich took Broccoli very seriously and, armed with Fleming’s novels, called a board meeting and got a reader to provide an analysis. There is an apocryphal story that the reader confused Ian with his older brother, Peter, who also wrote books – but non-fiction travel tomes, and reported accordingly. Another story tells how the same script editor thought Bond was a sub-par Mike Hammer (a fictional private investigator) and too English to boot.44 Eric Pleskow, an executive at United Artists who eventually got the Bond deal, later recounted another version, ‘It was a question of the budget for the picture. The difference was £100,000 and they couldn’t get together on that so obviously they left.’45 In a decision as disastrous as Decca passing on the Beatles a year later, Columbia Pictures passed on producing the James Bond pictures in 1961.46


Pleskow recounts what happened next, ‘In those days, United Artists and Columbia Pictures were in the same building 729, 7th Avenue so since they were in the same building they figured they would go to United Artists.’47 Unfazed, Broccoli went downstairs to meet with Arthur Krim, the lawyer who had helped him years ago on Avalanche. Krim now ran United Artists – the only studio ideally suited to exploit European production. Founded in 1919 UA was famously run by director D.W. Griffiths and actors Douglas Fairbanks, Mary Pickford and Charlie Chaplin. When they took over the studio it was described as, ‘the lunatics have taken charge of the asylum’.48 Indeed, by the early fifties, the lunatics had brought the studio to the verge of bankruptcy. Arthur Krim and Robert Benjamin took over the enterprise and through a combination of granting unparalleled creative freedom to their producers and investing in prudent productions, they set about slowly rebuilding the once giant studio. Aided by not having to maintain contract players and a studio backlot, United Artists became ‘the studio without walls’.49 Over the decade that followed United Artists became a niche purveyor of groundbreaking, quality films.


The studio was enjoying success with popular characters such as Mike Hammer – the American detective featured in a series of hard-boiled novels penned by Mickey Spillane. Fleming was a Spillane fan and the two authors have often been compared, including possibly by Columbia’s reviewer. Two Mike Hammer films had been produced by Victor Saville and he, too, had approached United Artists in the late fifties to option the Bond property. For some reason Saville had been rebuffed by the United Artists’ executives, although he had been supported by one: Max Youngstein.50 Another United Artists’ executive and early Bond fan was David Picker, who also recalled trying to get the rights:




A cousin of mine was married to [Semon Wolf, a Wall Street broker] who said, ‘You should read these books they’d make a great movie.’ So I read a couple and had our office make an enquiry but Fleming was just not prepared to sell the rights. It was a few years later when he needed some money the word came out that he might consider making a deal. I went after them [but] they were simply not for sale.51





In 1961 United Artists opened a London office. Headed by George ‘Bud’ Ornstein, the office based at Film House in Wardour Street had a skeleton staff and could not administer more than five films a year.52 It was not the most fertile ground to plant blockbuster seeds in. Picker remembered:




[Broccoli and Saltzman] spoke to [Ornstein] and said they wanted to come and meet with me and my boss in New York – [they] did not tell him what it was about actually. They told him not to mention it. So we set up the meeting and they came in and met with Arthur Krim and Bob Benjamin and myself.53





On 20 June 1961 Broccoli and Saltzman walked downstairs to United Artists, Broccoli approached the meeting with Arthur Krim, Robert Benjamin, Arnold Picker and ten others with ‘a mixture of optimism and apprehension’.54 Also present was David Picker, nephew of Arnold; Krim recalled him saying, ‘If David likes the idea, we’ll talk.’55 In a case of nepotism working, the young Picker agreed immediately to go with the project.


While it is a matter of record that Krim relied heavily on David Picker’s view of the material, future United Artists’ executive, Mike Medavoy later revealed higher powers had been work:




At that meeting what they didn’t know was that Arthur Krim was a close friend of John Kennedy’s. John Kennedy had been reading the Bond books and was a fan. He had mentioned it to Arthur Krim. They walked into a situation in which they were really going to receive a favourable ear because the President of the United States had been reading the books.56





David Picker had particular insight into Cubby and Harry at this early stage:




They were very different. Cubby was very comfortable in the business, had been in the business for years. Harry had been involved in the business but hadn’t dealt on the level Cubby had. He was a partner in Woodfall, they’d made a few small movies, but he’d never dealt with the American majors and he was far less comfortable than Cubby was. It was all new to him, I’m not sure that he had had the kind of business experience that at the time someone like Cubby would have had. There was an element of trust already established and this was all new to Harry.57





Pleskow takes up the story:




[Saltzman said], ‘What do we do now?’ So Broccoli said, ‘What are you talking about? We have a handshake deal with Arthur Krim.’ In those days, we were known for keeping our word, we had a very good reputation, our word was our bond – not James Bond (laughs). Saltzman says, ‘That means nothing.’ Broccoli was getting very annoyed, finally he picked up the phone and called Arthur and before Cubby could say anything, Krim said, ‘I know why you’re calling me, you want something on paper’ and Krim, having been a lawyer, he was able to dictate the proper letter and it was delivered an hour later to the hotel. So that’s how we got the Bond pictures.58





The deal with United Artists would not be formalised until 2 April 1962, after the first James Bond film had finished shooting.59


Other formal agreements were required. Fleming had spread the film rights across an array of family trusts. Len Deighton recalled:




It was into this snake pit of obligations that Harry and Cubby trod. Harry told me that he and Cubby were determined to keep the various lawyers, family members and representatives apart. To do this, they took over a London hotel. Each title was assigned to a room and occupied by lawyers, trustees and beneficiaries according to who had been empowered to sign the agreement. [Cubby and Harry went] from room to room with the threat that unless there was agreement of all, there would be money for none.60





It was yet another example of why, perhaps, the Bond film deals had taken so long to come to fruition.


Broccoli and Saltzman acted quickly. They formed a corporate entity – Danjaq, Société Associés (S.A.) based in Lausanne, Canton of Vaud, Switzerland. Broccoli immediately wrote an advance to Saltzman of $1,000 and after a little haggling, entered into a 50/50 partnership. The company was named after Cubby and Harry’s respective wives, Dana and Jacqueline.61 Johanna Harwood remembered a curious detail, ‘they put Mrs. Broccoli first because Cubby had always sort of rather vaguely said “Why do we always put Saltzman and Broccoli?”’62 According to Steven Saltzman, Harry’s son, Danjaq ‘was set up with shares that were actually bought privately by Dana and Jacqueline separately with cash they could demonstrate was not linked to their husbands. Private, free money, so that they could actually have shares in it.’63 The company was administered by Bank Fiduciaire executive Gerald Schlaeppi in Switzerland and into it were vested all the copyrights and future profits of the Bond franchise at a hugely advantageous tax rate.64


The producers then formed an English company that actually made the films as an independent entity. This service company was called Eon Productions Limited and was formed in England on 6 July 1961. The name Eon did not mean anything at first but later, as legend took hold, a retronym emerged. The brainchild of two hardened gamblers, EON came to stand for ‘Everything or Nothing’.65
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Since Eon Productions did not own James Bond’s first adventure, CASINO ROYALE, the question was which book should they adapt first? Broccoli and Saltzman initially began developing Fleming’s most recent bestseller THUNDERBALL published in April 1961. However, this title was tied up in litigation with Kevin McClory. UA executive David Picker remembered the reasons behind the final choice:




They talked about GOLDFINGER or THUNDERBALL – but for the first movie you had to have a limit on what you could spend and those were more expensive movies to make than Dr. No. We agreed that the first one would be Dr. No and then hopefully if the series took off we would go on from there.’1





Picker outlined how the studio gained its artist-friendly reputation:




United Artists’ philosophy was very simple: we were never involved in the production. As a courtesy we might go by and say hello, or have a lunch, but the actual day-to-day nature of the inter-relationship between the crew and the cast – unless there was a problem – we knew nothing about it. That just went on without our involvement on any level. The only time we saw them was when they brought the picture in. They had no obligation to report to us in any way, shape, matter or form if the picture was on budget and on schedule, because under the United Artists’ code of business they were free to make their movie as long as they used the script we approved, the cast we approved and the budget we approved.2





United Artists had set a budget of $40,000 for the screenplay3 and Eon set about getting an acceptable blueprint for the first James Bond film.


Having worked on initial outlines to attract finance, Johanna Harwood received the following telegram from Harry Saltzman, ‘Have concluded Bond deal with United Artists. Production starting 15 October. Stop. Urgent do screen treatment break down thunderball. Stop. DR. NO or thunderball probably first subject. Stop.’4


Harwood was under starter’s orders, ‘I remember getting the telegram saying that we were going to do it and would I please do the script at once in Paris. I wrote Dr. No mostly over there, although I went back and forward.’5 Harwood was not impressed with the novel DR. NO, ‘I thought it was one of the less good ones. It was the Americans who chose it. By this time I think Ian Fleming was pushing it a bit.’6


When Wolf Mankowitz introduced Cubby Broccoli to Harry Saltzman, he had done so on one condition, ‘If I call and ask if he’ll do a deal, can I write the screenplay?’7 Mankowitz was teamed up with Richard Maibaum to develop Harwood’s draft. The novel, only recently a bestseller in 1958, already needed updating, as Maibaum explained: ‘When Wolf and I began working on the script, we decided that Fleming’s Dr. No was the most ludicrous character in the world. He was just Fu Manchu with steel hooks. It was 1961 and we felt that audiences just wouldn’t stand for that kind of stuff anymore.’ Instead the writers created a new villain with Dr. No becoming ‘a little marmoset monkey. We wrote the whole thing, about forty pages. Wolf and I thought it was marvellous and we showed it to Cubby and Harry. Cubby was outraged.’8


DR. NO was Ian Fleming’s sixth Bond novel published in the UK on 31 March 1958. Based on Fleming’s trip to the Bahamian isle of Inagua with Ivar Bryce, Fleming was also inspired by current events – failed early rocket tests had put the USA behind the Soviets in the space race and unrest in the Caribbean seemed to be leading to revolution.


The plot is typical Bond: Fleming’s villain is the son of a ‘Chinese girl of a good family [and a] German Methodist missionary’. Dr. No is an ex-member of the Chinese gangster association the Hip Sing Tong and, as a result of embezzling from them, has had his hands cut off and replaced with hooks. He has reinvented himself, including his name – ‘Julius for my father, No for my rejection of him’ – and has built up his base, the island fortress, Crab Key. This fictional isle is home to a rare species of bird, who deposit large amounts of guano (dung), which Dr. No sells lucratively as fertiliser. When a group of ornithologists go missing while on an expedition to the island, the local British Secret Service chief, Strangeways, investigates and is killed. Dr. No does not want anyone snooping around his island in case they discover his real business; he is using radio beams to affect the telemetary of nearby US rocket tests, causing them to fail. It is revealed his backers are the Soviets, seeking supremacy in the early days of the space race. Bond encounters the Three Blind Mice; has a giant, poisonous centipede crawl dangerously up his naked body; and is trained by Quarrel, his Cayman islander friend from LIVE AND LET DIE, prior to his journey to Crab Key. The finale has Bond undergoing a torturous obstacle course observed by Dr. No in some sort of warped experiment in pain. Upon escaping Dr. No’s lair Bond is forced to do battle with a giant squid before killing Dr. No by burying him in guano. The film followed the basic story with many of the same events, but liberties were taken with the source material and the characterisation of Bond. Harry Saltzman would later say of Fleming’s work, ‘The books are larger than life. As a matter of fact, I think we are closer to life-size than the books are.’9 This would be the first and last occasion that would be true.


Harking back to Broccoli’s experience at Warwick producing for a global audience and Harry’s nuanced, sophisticated European world-view, the producers were mindful of staying clear of politics. A few years later Cubby Broccoli reflected, ‘We try to make entertainment for the man who sits in the seat because he’s the critic, he’s the judge. The theatres are full of these critics. They like this kind of picture because it’s escapism and they identify themselves with what’s on the screen. We know this. They don’t want to be identified with any political arrangement or any political figures.’10 In a key change, Dr. No would not be working for the Soviets; his backers would now be SPECTRE, the organisation originally featured in THUNDERBALL (the novel which was still subject to legal dispute). Interestingly, the Bond film plots almost never depended on Cold War allegiances.


United Artists’ London chief, Bud Ornstein, wrote to David Picker in New York on reading the first draft of the screenplay, ‘I must tell you that personally, I have not been too impressed to date with Maibaum’s work and only hope that he will come up with something much better this time as we have had many story conferences with him.’11 Fleming suggested thriller writer Berkely Mather (the pseudonym of Lieutenant-Colonel John Evan Weston-Davies) perform an uncredited polish and Mather delivered a draft on 28 November 1961.12 Mather was also the author of the pass beyond kashmir, a film of which Eon would later announce as one of their future productions.13


Harwood understood why Mather had been brought in, ‘He was supposed to masculinise the dialogue, that’s why they got someone with army experience.’ Upon reading Mather’s draft, ‘Harry Saltzman rolled his eyes and said, “This won’t do at all”. He had them all talking like Chicago hit men.’14 Harwood claims that when Mather saw a preview of Dr. No he changed his mind and wanted a screen credit contradicting his previous feelings about the project.15


Harwood did not meet her other collaborators,’We never wrote it together. I never met Mankowitz, I passed Maibaum a couple of times on the stairs and he always said “Good morning” very pleasantly. But he was a pro.’16 The final Maibaum and Mankowitz screenplay was dated on 12 December 1961 and it was on this fourth draft that the final budget was calculated.17


If finding the right tone was difficult so, too, was finding the right director. United Artists had final approval as Bud Ornstein recalled, ‘based on the treatment, directors so far have shied away from the project. I feel that it is important to get the director assigned as soon as possible so that he can adapt the script to his own thinking.’18 Broccoli and Saltzman allegedly favoured Phil Karlson but his fee of $75,000 was well over the $40,000 budgeted for the director.19 David Picker also felt, because of the subject matter, ‘It was clearly going to a British not an America director.’20


Bryan Forbes, Guy Green and Ken Hughes all turned down the film.21 Guy Hamilton and Terence Young were the frontrunners,22 but Hamilton declined for personal reasons.23 In any event, United Artists felt that, despite Young’s ‘tendency to go over schedule and budget’,24 he was the right choice. Picker explained, ‘It was easy to say Terence was the living embodiment of James Bond – his style of dress, his style of life – he could have played James Bond himself.’25


Terence Young was the prototypical James Bond. Young appreciated the fine things in life and could match Fleming with urbane superiority:




I’d met him through his wife, Ann Rothemere. I also met him through Noël Coward. I’d been staying at Noël’s house in Jamaica and Ian was there. We met just after I’d been signed to do the picture at some big press show put on by United Artists. He said, ‘So they’ve decided on you to fuck up my work.’ I said, ‘Well, let me put it this way, Ian, I don’t think anything you’ve written is immortal as yet, whereas the last picture I made won the Grand Prix at Venice. Now, let’s start level.26





Young went to work immediately on the script with who he called, the ‘continuity girl’, Johanna Harwood, ‘[We] took a room at the Dorchester Hotel and we worked day and night.’27


Harwood remembered Terence Young’s involvement in the script rather differently, ‘It was a joke really because what he had done was pretty well copied paragraphs out of the book. There were great big swathes which said “Bond thought hard about what he was going to do next.” Things you can’t put in a picture at all.’28 The Young-Harwood draft was dated 8 January 1962, a mere eight days before principal photography was due to begin in Kingston, Jamaica. Upon seeing the finished screenplay Broccoli recalled that Wolf Mankowitz requested his name be removed from the credits of the film.29


Previous accounts of the making of the film suggest that Harwood’s sole contribution to the writing of the screenplay was the topical joke of having Dr. No behind the recent theft of Goya’s portrait of the Duke of Wellington. She recalled, ‘I came up with the idea at a script conference at Harry Saltzman’s place.’30


Over fifty years later, Harwood reflected:




By now of course the whole thing is chewed around the edges as you can imagine – everything has been changed by one person, by two people. It would [have] been nice to go back to the very first script I did. Of course they are not going to admit that’s a good idea – because they’ve just spent thousands paying all these other people. So I do what I can with all the scripts lying around pasting and cutting and rewriting. We are running out of time now more or less. At some point someone says ‘What’s this little girl doing writing tough dialogue?’31





Beyond the obstacles of writing the screenplay and choosing a director, the greatest task was to find the man who would be James Bond. The film had a budget of $140,000 for the entire cast.32


Cary Grant was a Bond aficionado but was considered too expensive and, even if he had been affordable, would not sign for more than two films.33 This was despite having been Cubby’s best man at his recent wedding. Fleming was acquainted with another star who might have been suitable for the role: David Niven. The actor recalled bumping into the author at Boodles, the gentleman’s club in London during the war, ‘we laughed together at the same things for years to come’.34 However, Broccoli felt Niven was not tough enough for the part.35


Before any actor had been cast, Fleming envisaged James Bond should have a background similar to himself. Bond’s mother was Swiss and his father was from a Scottish family, but raised in England. Fleming had conceived Bond’s Scottish ancestry when researching the Bond family name years before.36 Fleming thought Bond resembled the golfer Henry Cotton and in casino royale Vesper Lynd likens him to one of the great songwriters of the age, Hoagy Carmichael. According to Fleming’s stepson, John Morgan, Fleming actually had an actor in mind to play Bond: the little known Edward Underdown.37


Broccoli recalled, ‘[United Artists] were reluctant to make the series using an unknown actor but eventually, after some talk, we did get an understanding that the picture would be done, if it could be done cheaply. In short, a million dollar budget – tops.’38 United Artists had wanted a big name to play James Bond. However, since Eon Productions had conceived a series of six films, to be released one per year from 1962 onwards, they were unsure whether a star would commit to such a long tenure, and if so, how much for.


An apocryphal story is that Fleming initially thought the then unknown actor Roger Moore would make a good Bond. That Fleming had even heard of Moore is only likely because the British actor was well acquainted with Fleming’s best man, Noël Coward. Moore himself was sceptical of the story, ‘I wouldn’t think so because it was ’56 when we worked together.’39 Broccoli thought Moore ‘slightly too young, perhaps a shade too pretty. He had what we called the “Arrow collar” look: too buttoned-down smart.’40 Another actor purported to have been considered was Patrick McGoohan who had starred in the 1956 Warwick film Zarak and was enjoying great success in the television series Danger Man.


Harry Saltzman also mentioned McGoohan along with actor Michael Craig.41 However, it is alleged that McGoohan, a strict Catholic, turned the role down on moral grounds. Saltzman thought his own ‘kitchen sink’ star Albert Finney could also have been a good fit. Other names mentioned by Broccoli included Trevor Howard and Michael Redgrave, while director Terence Young wanted Richard Johnson to play the role.42 Young, however, was one of the few directors who had worked with the eventual choice, Sean Connery, who he met when working on Action of the Tiger (1957).


Many individuals have taken credit for bringing Connery to the attention of the producers. Lana Turner was the first to introduce Broccoli to the Scotsman on the set of Another Time, Another Place in 1958. Cubby’s first impressions were, ‘He was a handsome, personable guy, projecting a kind of animal virility. He was tall, with a strong physical presence and there was just the right hint of threat behind that hard smile and faint Scottish burr.’43 Broccoli could see the latent appeal in the actor, ‘The movie he was making with Lana was poor, but it revealed other potential in Connery. A flair for wearing stylish clothes and an easy, confident style in front of the cameras. It was this image that persisted in my mind.’44


In summer 1961, while at Goldwyn Studios in Los Angeles, Cubby attended an advance screening of the live action Disney musical Darby O’Gill and the Little People – one of Connery’s first leading roles. Dana Broccoli recalled, ‘[Cubby] said, “I’ve just seen an actor and I think he’s terrific but I don’t know if he has any sex appeal. I was just knocked out by him. I thought he was just incredible.”’45 Peter Hunt, who would eventually edit the first Bond film, recounted how he had known the director and the producers individually before production:




I had been acquainted with the director, Terence Young, since I was sixteen. I later did some special work for Cubby Broccoli and Irving Allen. I also knew Harry Saltzman, and one night we were having dinner. At the time I was working on a film called On the Fiddle [1961], with Sean Connery. Harry began talking about how he was going to make these Bond films with Cubby Broccoli. They were discussing who was going to play Bond, and I sent up a couple of reels of Connery. Whether that influenced them or not, I don’t know.46





Connery was born on 25 August 1930 in Fountainbridge, Edinburgh and left formal schooling aged thirteen. After a number of jobs including delivering milk and coffin polishing, he enlisted in the Royal Navy to travel the world. Unfortunately he only got as far as Portsmouth and was invalided out early due to stomach ulcers. He settled on acting because it offered more longevity than his other career opportunity – a professional footballer for Manchester United. By the time the Bond offer came up Connery had carved a solid career as a working actor on stage, television and film, doing B-movies and the classics.


Just prior to shooting Dr. No Connery married his long-time partner, the actress Diane Cilento:




Sean was given the James Bond books to read and received a callback for an audition. He gave me the book for my opinion. I found the dialogue stilted, the character of Bond relentlessly awful unless he was given a sublime sense of humour, and the violence, or ‘license to kill’ stuff, could only be brought off if it was accomplished with a lot of ritualistic absurdity and fun.47





With this advice ringing in his ears Connery set out his terms at Eon’s South Audley Street offices in Mayfair, London:




Broccoli called and said he had this Fleming film and thought I might fit the part. He asked me over and after we discussed it a bit further I said I would be interested provided they put some more humour into the story. I felt this was essential. He agreed, then said, ‘When can you test?’ I asked ‘What test?’ He said ‘A film test.’ I said, ‘Sorry, but I’m not making tests. I’m well past that. Take it or leave it but no test.’48





Harry Saltzman recalled Sean’s behaviour during the meeting, ‘Whenever he wanted to make a point, he’d bang his fist on the table, the desk, or his thigh, and we knew this guy had something. When he left, we watched from the window as he walked down the street and we all said, “He’s got it!”’49 Broccoli remembered, ‘One of the things that appealed to us both was the way he moves, he moves like a cat, he moves very well.’50 Saltzman agreed, ‘For a large man he moves extremely well. He had acting ability, he had experience, he was the right age. I might tell you we had a lot of opposition when we picked him from everybody.’51


The producers were always adamant they needed a slightly tougher British figure to play Bond to add the requisite level of machismo to the gentleman spy. Saltzman said, ‘When we spoke to him, [we] saw he had the masculinity the part needed.’52 Broccoli noted the misconception about the literary Bond, ‘There was a general feeling that he should be the school-tie hero, here in England. And he isn’t.’53 Saltzman agreed that their Bond was a tougher interpretation. ‘There was a kind of an idea from the books that he was a very well bred, well educated, very erudite gentleman. Actually in the books, he isn’t. He doesn’t read. Actually Ian Fleming’s picture of him was not as an educated gentleman. Ian Fleming [said he] was a blunt instrument. And we try to keep him in that image.’54


Broccoli understood the key to success was to make the unknown actor become Bond. ‘If the books were successful, they would make whoever played Bond famous. A star couldn’t have been tied up for a series of pictures; and we felt this to be vital. United Artists had failed with Micky Spillane because they used a different star each time and the public got no chance to form an affectionate identification with him.’55 Associate producer Stanley Sopel remembered:




I think they always knew from day one that Sean Connery would be Bond. He didn’t look like anybody’s idea of Bond when we first saw him but there was something there. We did go through the motions of screen-testing some fifteen or twenty hopefuls, of everybody’s idea of what Commander Bond should look like: 6’ 2”, British upper-crust, with the sort of chiselled face. Had a genius come out of that testing, Connery probably wouldn’t have gotten the part, but he was it from the beginning.56





Eventually the balding 31-year-old actor did screentest, under the guise of auditioning actresses for the role, at Pinewood. Upon receiving the material of Connery in New York, Picker and Krim telegraphed, ‘NO. KEEP TRYING.’57 On 23 August 1961 Cubby reported the words of United Artists’ West Coast chief Robert Blumofe to Harry, ‘New York did not care for Connery, feels we can do better.’58 But UA’s Bud Ornstein in London supported the producers’ choice, ‘He is the best we have come up with to date and I do believe he could be James Bond.’59 Sean Connery was announced as Bond in The Daily Cinema on 3 November 1961.60


Connery appreciated the opportunity, ‘I could see that, properly made, this would be a start – a marvellous opening. It had the ingredients of success: sex, action, and so forth. The only thing lacking, I thought, was humour.’61


Finding Connery was only the beginning. Not only did he have to act Bond, he would have to become Bond. Terence Young took Connery on an extensive crash course in all things refined. Various sartorial establishments in London dressed Bond: tailored suits from Anthony Sinclair of Conduit Street, shirts and ties from Turnbull and Asser of Jermyn Street, his trilby hat from Lock and Co., and handmade shoes from Lobb and Co., both of St. James’s Street. Young schooled Connery in the background and manners one would expect of Fleming’s Eton- and Fettes-educated spy. He advised Connery to sleep in his suit to get comfortable with it, taught the actor to eat with his mouth closed. Young tutored Connery into becoming the refined gentleman spy. Diane Cilento recalled, ‘Terence Young had a son called [Shaun], so he called my Sean, “Junior”.’62


Production buyer on the film Ron Quelch attended Eon’s offices at South Audley Street to talk about the character James Bond, ‘It was basically a meeting covering all the amenities/aspects of Bond himself. Would he have cufflinks? Would he have a tiepin? What watch would he have? That went on for the best part of a day.’63


Connery admitted, ‘[I’d] only read two Bond books [before filming began]. The thing was, I found Fleming much more interesting than his writing.’64 Connery shared his feelings further, ‘When I first met Fleming there was certainly no dissention between us on how to see Bond. I saw him as a complete sensualist – senses highly tuned, awake to everything, quite amoral. I particularly like him because he thrives on conflict.’65 Watching Connery as Bond entering his flat after the introductory gaming scene, observing his panther walk gleaned from years working with ballet dancer, Yat Malgrem, and seeing him smell Miss Taro’s towel and cooling his silencer after killing Dent – Connery’s effortlessness in these scenes belied the training of a professional actor. Wearing a hairpiece for even his first Bond film, Connery’s saturnine Bond look was confected by the make-up department of John O’Gorman and Eileen Warwick.


Prior to shooting Connery explained his approach to the character, ‘James Bond is very much for breaking the rules. He enjoys freedom that the normal person doesn’t get. He likes to eat. He likes to drink. He likes his girls. He is rather cruel, sadistic.’66 Connery worked with his director to lighten Bond, ‘Terence Young, agreed with me that it would be right to give it another flavour, another dimension, by injecting humour, but at the same time to play it absolutely straight and realistically.’67


Eon now needed to cast the first Bond girl, Honey Ryder. Martine Beswick, then new to the film industry, was up for the part, ‘When I went to meet Terence Young, he took a good look at me and said, “You’re too young and you need experience. Go and get some experience. Because I have an idea for you. I want you for my next film.”’68 Also up for the part was Gabriella Licudi, who, at twenty, was also deemed too young.69


Then Broccoli happened to spy a photo of a woman in a wet shirt amongst the hundreds of photos of actresses floating around Eon’s offices and thought ‘she looked very attractive – wet – like a sea lion.’70 Broccoli followed this up with a call to casting director Max Arnow, who informed him, ‘No photograph can catch the beauty of this girl.’71 However, Arnow went on to say, ‘she has a voice like a Dutch comic.’72 Broccoli was not put off, but time was running out – they had two weeks before they were to begin shooting.


Ursula Andress remembered her big break, ‘I was in Los Angeles at that time. I said, “Ok send the script over.” Everybody knows I never really read the scripts because I never really wanted to work.’73 During a party hosted by Andress and John Derek, Kirk Douglas picked up the script for Dr. No sitting unread on the table. Douglas read the script aloud to the party guests. ‘We all laughed. He just read a few pages to me and everybody said “Ursula do it. It’s Ian Fleming – a writer who is liked all over the world.” Douglas said, “You should do it.”’74


Dr. No established the three-girl Bond formula: an initial, fun dalliance with a sex siren; an intriguing tangle with a femme fatale who works for the enemy; and then a final-reel encounter with the leading lady. In the opening of Dr. No audiences meet James Bond across a hazy gaming table as he challenges Sylvia Trench – the first James Bond girl – in a game of chemin de fer. Eunice Gayson had starred in Terence Young’s 1956 Warwick film Zarak. At the time of the making of Dr. No, Eunice was starring in the London stage production of The Sound of Music and composer Richard Rogers would not release her from a long theatre run. Young suggested that he write a small part for her that could be filmed around her stage schedule (she needed to be in London by the early evening making her unavailable for long filming days). She had known of Sean Connery, having seen him on stage in the Oxford Playhouse. They subsequently became neighbours and he visited her flat to share his incredulity that he had been cast as Bond.75


Zena Marshall was the second actress in the structure: the villainess Chinese minx Miss Taro. While having lunch with Terence Young, he had been complaining that they had tested thirty oriental actresses but still could not find their girl. Zena merely suggested, ‘What about me?’ On 21 December 1961 she found herself opposite Sean Connery in competition against Talitha Pol, Lina Margo and Violet Marceau for the part.76 The tests were lensed by Geoffrey Unsworth, who would go on to become a legendary cinematographer in his own right.77


In the novels Bond has a flirtatious relationship with his own secretary, Loelia Ponsonby, while M’s personal assistant – Miss Moneypenny – is cool and distant. The film incarnation of Moneypenny is a blend of both characters. Lois Maxwell won the role of cinema’s most famous secretary when her husband – television executive Peter Marriot – became seriously ill in 1961. Maxwell explained her predicament, ‘It was on my son’s second birthday. Right out of the blue Peter had a double coronary. The doctors didn’t expect him to live and I knew I would have to find work to support us all. So I phoned round some of the people I knew in the film business and pleaded for anything they could give me.’78


Maxwell had appeared in Young’s 1948 production Corridor of Mirrors, ‘I called Terence Young and Cubby Broccoli – who was a friend of my husband Peter – and said “I need a job as soon as possible.”’79 They offered Maxwell one of two parts – Miss Moneypenny or the aforementioned Sylvia Trench. Lois joked her legs were not her strongest offering and that she ‘didn’t fancy the idea of being seen in a pyjama top [either]. I thought there might be a chance of playing Moneypenny again if the film was successful – which would, of course, be good for the family finances.’80 At the wrap party Maxwell recalled meeting Ian Fleming. ‘He came up to me after seeing the film – or, rather the rough cut – and said, “When I wrote the part of Miss Moneypenny, I had, in my mind’s eye, a tall, elegant woman with the most kissable lips in the world. And you are precisely that.”’81


Bernard Lee was cast as Bond’s Secret Service chief, Sir Miles Messervy, known as ‘M’. Lee had been a Warwick regular and had played a series of important roles in key British films including Carol Reed’s The Third Man (1949). Lee’s M would be more of an authoritarian figure for the film Bond to rebel against than the tough father figure of the novels.


Peter Burton played Major Boothroyd – the armourer. The way Bond is handed his Walther PPK with the gun fetishised as a gadget would become a trope of the series with Bond’s equipment being explained by the quartermaster, soon to be known simply as ‘Q’. The reference to the weapon jamming on his last mission was a nod to the literary Bond, who at the end of FROM RUSSIA WITH LOVE is left for dead.


Ian Fleming had suggested his friend and neighbour in Jamaica, Noël Coward, for the title role. Coward wittily cabled the author, ‘Dear Ian, the answer to Dr. No is No, No, No, No!’82 Harry Saltzman had admired Joseph Wiseman as a drug fiend in Detective Story (1952) and the noted Canadian stage actor was promptly cast as the Chinese scientist.83 Made up to look vaguely oriental and dressed in a Mao Tse-Tung tunic, Wiseman’s character wore black metal gloves instead of hooks. His cold line readings and economical movements formed the template for future Bond villains. Wiseman later said, ‘I had no idea what I was letting myself in for. I had no idea [the film] would achieve the success it did. As far as I was concerned, I thought it might just be another grade B Charlie Chan mystery.’84 Johanna Harwood remembered a more enthusiastic actor on set, ‘He was there at the script conference and I remember going out to Pinewood or coming back from Pinewood in the same car as him once and he chatted very enthusiastically about the script and about the film.’85 Sean Connery’s wife, Diane Cilento, admired Wiseman’s ‘amazing face and a vulnerable passion that simmered just below the surface.’86


Casting was completed with some notable supporting players: Felix Leiter was played by Jack Lord, who would go on to worldwide television fame as Steve McGarrett in CBS’s Hawaii Five-O. Professor Dent was played by Young’s long-time friend Anthony Dawson and Bond’s Cayman Islander ally, Quarrel, was personified by American John Kitzmiller – a Fellini alumnus and winner of the 1957 Best Actor award at Cannes.


To create the world of James Bond, Broccoli engaged department heads from his Warwick days: director of photography Ted Moore and production designer Ken Adam, assisted by art director Syd Cain, who put all the money on the screen.


Broccoli enlisted composer Monty Norman early on in production. He recalled, ‘I had written a musical called Belle or the Ballad of Dr. Crippen (1961). One of the main backers was Cubby Broccoli. It was murdered frankly by the critics. [Cubby] was furious and he said, “One of these days we’ll do something together again.”’87


Years later Broccoli called Norman:




He said “We are doing the James Bond material. Would I like to do the first one?” I was about to say, “Can you give me a while to think about it?” When Harry Saltzman said, “We’re doing all the location in Jamaica why don’t you come out with your wife all expenses paid” – and that was the clincher!’ He continued, laughing, ‘Suddenly I found time. My wife [actress Diana Coupland] and I thought, “We don’t know if this is going to be a big flop of a film, but at least we’ll have sun, sea and sand for a few weeks.”88





Dr. No embodied the electronic age and Ken Adam wanted to innovate:




‘My previous experience of Pinewood hadn’t been that great. I called in all the heads of department – the construction manager, the chief plasterer, the chief painter – and said I wanted to play around with new materials, new technologies, new techniques, anything they could think of. They rose to the challenge. That stimulated my imagination.89





Adam’s initial reaction to the screenplay was not great, ‘My wife Letitzia read [the script and said] “You can’t possibly do this. You would prostitute yourself.” I remember being offered a profit participation deal by Cubby and Harry. But because of my reservations about the script, I turned down the offer.’90


Adam recalled how the days leading up to principal photography were spent: ‘We went down to Florida to look at marsh buggies, [as the basis for the dragon tank used to scare the locals from being too inquisitive] and then to Jamaica, but we didn’t have a great deal of time because we had to start shooting. Then Syd Cain, my art director, came out to join us. I supervised the main locations but went back to London to work on the sets.’91


On 16 January 1962 Dr. No began filming at Palisades Airport, Kingston.92 Monty Norman recalled that the fun started on the flight to Jamaica, ‘Broccoli and Saltzman chartered a plane to take the whole British contingent to Jamaica. They were a motley bunch consisting of technicians, actors, stuntmen and essential film crew. During that long flight they all got to know each other very well and it became like a showbiz party.’93 The first shot in the can was of Sean Connery in a phone booth staring intently at his chauffeur, played by Reggie Carter, who Bond has just discovered is working for the enemy.94


Throughout January and February 1962 the crew flitted all over Jamaica shooting both scenes set on the island and those at the fictional Crab Key. The unit went to Government House where Bond meets Pleydell-Smith and smells the trail of Miss Taro and Professor Dent.95 They then found themselves at a concrete factory in the Blue Mountains where car action was filmed on a private road in the vicinity.96 Stuntman Bob Simmons drove both Bond’s convertible 1961 Sunbeam Alphine Series II and the ill-fated hearse97 in which the villains had met their demise chasing Bond.


Ursula Andress arrived on the island in February 1962. It was the first time she had met the producers and Terence Young, having never screentested for the role. Andress’s first scene was the closing shot of the picture: Bond casting their boat adrift from Leiter’s US Marine gunboat.98


During production Ian Fleming, with his wife Ann, journalist Peter Quennell and poet Stephen Spender, visited the unit while they were shooting in Falmouth. Fleming paid particular attention to Andress, ‘He always came on the set and we talked and then he invited me to dinner in Ocho Rios at Goldeneye – his house. He was a very interesting man, he was very intelligent, interested in culture. He was James Bond.’99 Andress had read the Bond novels and considered them, ‘Very well written, very fun and very educational in many things.’100 Ever playful, Fleming wrote the actress into the new Bond book he was currently writing – ON HER MAJESTY’S SECRET SERVICE. Monty Norman was impressed by Fleming, too, ‘I also went to his house once – Goldeneye. He was very interested in West Indian music [and] in the idea of doing something for Ursula Andress, as she comes out of the water, some piece of music.’101 In the novel, Bond sings the calypso, ‘Marion’.


Andress described Connery and Young as great mentors, ‘I didn’t know hardly anything about acting and Terence and Sean were very helpful to me. The thing I remember the most was that we were like a family – Sean, Terence and I – we were like a family together.’102 Monty Norman mainly socialised with Jack Lord. ‘He was a lovely man, and he and his wife and my wife and I used to see quite a lot of each other. What we used to do quite often was have dinner together at one great long table. To be fair to Harry, he was also part of it and Cubby was that kind of man.’103


Laughing Water, the estate of Mrs. Minnie Simpson, was the locale of Honey Ryder’s entrance from the waves in a stunning bikini complete with hunting knife.104 In Fleming’s novel Honey emerges from the water, completely naked, her hands covering her groin and, endearingly, a broken nose, leaving her breasts on display. No censor was going to pass such a scene for a general 1962 audience. Upon arriving in Jamaica Andress had collaborated with costume designer, Tessa Prendergast, on the making of what was still, in the sixties, a rather risqué piece of clothing. Fashioned from a British Army webbing belt, Andress fitted her ample frame into the most famous bikini in the world. She noted a common misconception about the item of clothing, ‘It’s not actually white – it’s a sort of ivory colour.’105 Ursula was unsure of the initial design – a traditional Jamaican style:




I didn’t like the palm trees or the leaves or the tropical flowers on the print of the fabric. I wanted something very simple. I had a very special idea about how I wanted the bikini. We designed it together. I chose the material, I didn’t sew it, but I helped to cut it!





The design also had to be suitable for the action sequences, which required a lot of ‘running and falling’.106


On 8 February 1962 Ursula Andress emerged from the warm Caribbean water and embedded herself in the imagination of billions of viewers for generations to come.107 The bikini was sold years later in 2001 at auction for £41,125 – more than twenty-seven times her £1,500 salary for appearing in Dr. No.108 ‘It was a rag. Who wanted it? I was going to throw it away and then a friend of mine said “Oh keep it!” I had it in a box in Los Angeles for years.’109


One of the key people Monty Norman met while on location was Chris Blackwell – the son of Fleming’s sometime mistress, Blanche Blackwell, and heir to the Crosse and Blackwell food fortune. Blackwell served as a location manager on the film, but was also an unofficial music guide. Norman recalled, ‘They were sensible enough to know the Caribbean music, which hadn’t been used that much in films was a good idea for that film. Practically all the Caribbean stuff was recorded in Jamaica.’110 Monty Norman ‘had a lot to do with Chris. I suppose he was the man who knew the area’111 and was full of praise for Byron Lee, who ‘was a big band leader in Jamaica and the West Indies.’112 Vocal duties on the songs by Lee’s band, the Dragonnaires, were taken on by Eric ‘Monty’ Morris.113


The crew went next to Reynold’s Bauxite Docks to film the exterior of Dr. No’s Crab Key hideaway. This site would be recreated in miniature by special effects technician John Stears back at Pinewood Studios. Ultimately the model would be blown up – the first of many explosive finales to the Bond films.


The Vanzie Swamp Salt Marsh was the setting for Bond’s, Honey’s and Quarrel’s – encounter with the dragon tank,114 used by Dr. No to keep the locals at bay; these scenes were themselves somewhat cursed. Firstly the tank, made in Miami, was delayed due to a freak snowstorm in Florida and upon arrival it was discovered the vehicle had been damaged in transit.115 The conditions for filming with it were terrible, as the crew were beset by leeches and mosquitoes on the marshes.116


The unit left Jamaica on 23 February 1962.117 Despite harmonious working relationships the location shoot had been plagued by unforeseen problems – local work practices, bad weather, delayed actors and equipment. Many shots had not been captured and the production had gone over budget; work would resume at Pinewood Studios.118


Scenes of Bond gambling in the small hours at Le Cercle were inspired by the first time audiences meet 007 in Fleming’s debut novel CASINO ROYALE. Terence Young was inspired by the introduction of Paul Muni in the 1939 film Juarez119 – James Bond is seen from behind and in profile, but never fully revealed. Ken Adam’s magnificent set had been based on Les Ambassadeurs in London; it was the perfect stage to introduce Bond to cinema audiences. We see Bond being chased on the chemin de fer table by the stunning Sylvia Trench in a striking red dress who prompts his introduction, ‘Bond. James Bond’. Young deliberately altered the timing of the scene so that instead of flicking his lighter and uttering the words, Connery paused a beat and then exhaled as he reveals his name, for the first time, through a haze of smoke.120 Eunice Gayson recalled Connery was nervous before they shot the scene and was asked by Young to help Sean relax. After lunch and a few calming drinks, the scene was captured in posterity for the delight of generations.121


Zena Marshall recalled spending days in bed with Sean Connery. She later thought some of what they shot must have been cut out by the censor:




Ian Fleming seemed to think my role was important, this enemy agent making love with Bond, each tacitly knowing the other is out to kill them. There were a few re-takes because Terence wanted us to relax into the mood of lovemaking and we did some sections twice for different markets. In Ireland, for example, they couldn’t see my tits, so more covered up [publicity] shots were taken Sean was very rough and raw but his charm was exceptional.122





Someone else who would spend days in bed was stuntman Bob Simmons. Sean Connery was terrified of spiders and a plate of glass was placed between him and the arachnid for the scene involving a tarantula crawling up Bond’s body. However, reflections could be seen in the glass and Broccoli requested Simmons allow a real tarantula to walk across him.123


Andress, too, was subject to exotic creatures. In the novel, part of Dr. No’s experiment in torture is to tie up Honey and observe her being devoured by migrating crabs. A version of it was filmed in the studio, but Andress recalled, ‘It was cut from the film because the crabs were too frozen – they had been flown in and they had to be de-iced. Terence suggested hot steam – they ended up half cooked so everybody took a crab home for dinner.’124


Fleming’s James Bond rarely kills in cold blood and reveals he does not like doing so. Young wanted to show Bond’s ruthlessness and a scene was written especially for the film: the killing of Professor Dent. Dent empties his gun into a figure he thinks is Bond sleeping. However, Bond has rigged his bed with strategically placed pillows. Knowing Dent has run out of bullets, Bond quips, ‘That’s a Smith and Wesson and you’ve had your six’ and shoots him at point blank range, even shooting Dent in the back after he has fallen. It is powerful moment and paved the way for other screen heroes to be similarly ruthless. Johanna Harwood remembered, ‘There was an awful lot of talk about it for and against. And they shot it both ways in case the censorship objected. I thought it was a mistake. I argued very, very firmly he shouldn’t do it. I thought he’s going to lose audiences’ sympathy.’125


The finale in Dr. No’s nuclear reactor was filmed on Pinewood’s A Stage towards the end of March 1962.126 Ken Adam had obtained real technology from International Business Machines (IBM) following his own inspection of the atomic facility at Harwell.127 By this time Adam had blown his design budget and he had to dip into the contingency fund to finish the eerie spider room set, which is the audience’s first encounter with the strange world of Dr. No. Cubby joked with Adam that he should keep a low profile as Film Finances, the completion bond company, were inspecting the set that day.128


Principal photography officially wrapped on 26 April 1962.129 The film was over budget and over schedule. The production was actually taken over by Film Finances, who would then oversee post-production duties.130 Despite the cost overrun, what audiences saw was, in the words of Stanley Sopel, ‘a $5 million movie, which we had made for $1.2 [million]’.131


Sound designer Norman Wanstall was to become another key player on the Bond team. He had worked his way up the ranks on Sink the Bismarck (1960, directed by Lewis Gilbert), alongside Dr. No editor Peter Hunt. Using quick cutting, sacrificing realism for pacing and style, combined with Wanstall’s exaggerated sound effects, the team came up with a new visual language for films.132 Norman Wanstall remembered:




Peter looked at the sort of material we were getting and said, ‘I think we’d better make this move so fast, people won’t have time to analyse it. Let’s make it go with a bang, just before people start to analyse whether it’s silly or not. Let’s move it along and make it exciting and special and macho’ – that was a very big decision. I’m sure that if another editor had cut those early Bonds they wouldn’t have had the same impact.133





Harry Saltzman later opined this was the result of the film not being made by British filmmakers, ‘The tempo wouldn’t have been there. We’ve put into the picture a North American tempo.’134


Dr. No opens with what would become the classic Bond introduction. A series of white dots appear on a black screen which then becomes the view from the striated inside of a gun barrel. Bond appears and is tracked by the gun. Suddenly, Bond turns and fires and a wash of red blood covers the screen – Bond has shot his would-be assassin. The evocative sequence was designed by the graphic artist Maurice Binder.135 Binder dreamed up the gun barrel sequence in less than fifteen minutes:




I had a meeting with the producers at eleven o’clock, so at nine o’clock I had to do a storyboard for Dr. No. I didn’t quite know what I was going to do but I did like the idea of gunshots across the screen so I felt if we have gunshots, maybe we could have a gun barrel. I had price tags, those little sticky things and I stuck them down fast – bang, bang, bang – and I drew a circle for the gun. They said it was fine, ‘Do it.’136





Binder relied on a team he had worked with before. Trevor Bond recalled, ‘Maurice Binder came into my life with a storyboard for The Road to Hong Kong [1962], the last “Road” film with Bing Crosby and Bob Hope.’137


Shooting the gun barrel proved problematic, as Trevor recalled:




It was a Colt .45 – a British service revolver, short-barrelled. We couldn’t focus down to get the rifle in. The actual lens just couldn’t cope with it. I had an idea – I had been a photographer in the Air Force when I did my National Service – and I had heard about pinhole cameras. So we got a piece of black paper and stuck a pin through it and cog the iris to shut right down and we got a perfect picture of the gun barrel. We had to have a policeman standing by – a British bobby because of the gun laws in England.138





The electronic sounds heard as the white dots glide across the screen were somewhat revolutionary at the time. Maurice Binder recalled,




The film itself had Dr. No working with computers to topple the rocket. I thought we should have computer sounds on the titles. I looked for where I could get the sound effects and they said there was this little old lady in Surrey who had been doing experiments with electronic sound. She sent me a couple of selections, I then wanted to use a big bang to follow the shot.139





Binder also used the bebop section of the ‘James Bond Theme’ with the bold brass movement, eschewing the guitar opening. Monty Norman was not happy initially:




I had a small row with Binder actually. I wanted the theme to be done exactly as is – from beginning to end – as so many themes are done that way. But he started moving it. I said, “You’re ruining it, you’re absolutely ruining it.” I sent him a couple of letters and I protested to Harry and Cubby about it. But, you know, they were right.’140





Binder revealed who the figure seen through the gun barrel was:




The little man you see on the first film is Bob Simmons, the stuntman who doubles for Sean Connery. At that point, nobody knew Sean Connery and nobody knew Bob Simmons, so what difference did it make?141





Trevor Bond explained the rationale behind the first James Bond title sequence, which became an innovative artistic triumph of the series, ‘It started with the idea of early computers – lots of lights and blobs – and these dots going bleep, bleep, bleep which turned into the gun barrel. I wanted to use native dancers as a visual accompaniment without losing the formularised graphic feeling that had been established. I got the three blind beggars walking on a tread board – [and] did it all against a white background.’142


The titles were accompanied by the aforementioned ‘James Bond Theme’, which must now be the most famous theme in the world. Norman recalled that its roots lay in a piece of music titled ‘Bad Sign, Good Sign’, taken from an abandoned musical he had written in 1959.143 The show had been set in the Indian community in Trinidad and was based on:




A House for Mr. Biswas, the V.S. Nipaul book. There was one number in there that I thought was very good. It had a very Asian quality and if the show had ever gone it would have been sung by somebody accompanied by a sitar. I thought, ‘I wonder what would happen if I split the notes?’ It was quite remarkable. I was at home [sitting by a piano]. I thought, ‘This has to be the beginning of the theme.’ I’m not an orchestrator and a few people had suggested John Barry because he was getting a few hit band songs. So I got John Barry to do it.144





Norman said, ‘I worked with Barry on what I wanted: a rhythmic sustained sound for the opening four bar figure; low octave guitar for my main melodic theme; big band for the hard riding middle section, etc. John did a wonderful, definitive orchestration of the Bond theme.’145


If ever there was a case to exemplify the old showbusiness adage that ‘where there’s a hit, there’s a writ’, the composition of the ‘James Bond Theme’ was it. In what had been the source of decades of litigation, John Barry alluded to the fact that he composed the theme from scratch with his band, the John Barry Seven.146 Claiming to have been brought in by United Artists’ London music chief Noel Rogers, the theme was said to have its roots in Barry’s composition ‘Bees Knees’.147 Vic Flick’s distinctive guitar sound graces both tunes, but Norman retained the credit and copyright to the track. In 2001, during a five-day trial, with evidence from all the parties and musicologists, a jury found that Monty Norman had, indeed, composed the ‘James Bond Theme’.148 During the proceedings it was revealed that the track had earned Norman approximately £485,000 from 1976 to 1999.149 John Barry received a mere £250 fee back in 1962.150


As had been the case with the Warwick films, music played an important part in the continuing Bond series. A potential source of huge revenue, United Artists took care to retain all copyright, licensing and synchronisation rights to the music in the films. Danjaq also shared in the revenues and retained a free hand in choosing composers and artists.151


Danjaq were restricted by Fleming in a very limited deal regarding licensing. One area Fleming prohibited from being exploited in connection with Bond was toiletries, including soap and deodorants.152 The producers did seek tie-in deals with a range of companies from purveyors of cigarettes and alcohol to Gossard bikinis, Hathaway shirts and Triumph cars.153 In keeping with the Fleming device of inserting real brand names in his books, the James Bond films were alive to the publicity benefits of product marketing from the outset.


An enduring marketing element would be the ‘007’ logo used to advertise the film. David Chasman, a creative director at United Artists, gave the job of designing the graphic to a friend, Joseph Caroff, who remembered, ‘I wrote “007” and realised the “7” could be the handle of a gun. It just happened. I gave it a little styling and made it look bold. While I only got $300 for the job, it has brought me a great deal of business.’154


Maurice Binder was behind the film’s unusual trailer campaign. Sean Connery recorded a voiceover, wittily counterpointing the onscreen action, ‘I thought it was polite to knock before shooting.’ Binder recalled that the first trailer was not well received by United Artists in New York who thought the irony of the commentary was outrageous.


Early omens for the movie were not good, as Harry Saltzman remembered:




When we had a print ready, there were about eight people from United Artists, including Arthur Krim, who came to see it. We started the picture at 10 a.m. and when it was over a few minutes before 12 noon, the lights came up and nobody said anything except a man who was head of the European operation for United Artists. He said, ‘The only good thing about the picture is that we can only lose $840,000.’ Then they all stood up, and Cubby and I were just shattered.155





Dr. No was first screened at Terence Young’s club, the Traveller’s, in July 1962.156 Another preview took place in Wimbledon a few months later. Then, on 5 October 1962, the London Pavilion paid host to the worldwide premiere. The first tangible indications of the scale of success were felt at the premiere, as Monty Norman recalled, ‘Within no time at all, you could feel the buzz in the place especially the moment he says, “Bond, James Bond” and the music comes in behind him. That was an amazing moment.’157 Harwood met Fleming for the first time at the after-party, ‘He was very urbane and I remember him saying, “There is some very good caviar on the buffet.”’158 Ian Fleming diplomatically said upon seeing the film ‘those who have read the book are likely to be disappointed but those who haven’t will find it a wonderful movie. Audiences laugh in all the right places.’159 Saltzman remembered, however, ‘Fleming didn’t like Sean Connery because he spoke with a Scottish accent. Fleming saw James Bond as himself, high-born, very educated, very English, posh public school accent.’160


The film played well in the UK but was only booked into Odeon’s flagship cinema at Leicester Square due to the Rank chain needing to make good on their British picture quota policy.161 Saltzman believed that was why ‘Dr. No got a major commercial shot’.162 It proved fortuitous for Rank to Saltzman’s satisfaction:




We broke every record known. We made £69,000 the first week, and we held the record for eleven years. We played twenty-four hours a day at £1 per ticket. They never saw such business, and the most surprised was United Artists. To them, it was a B picture. They hated it.163





Broccoli was confident, ‘We knew we had a good little film and knew it was going to make money – but there was more. This semi-sadistic, unscrupulous man of the law and womaniser fascinated people. Women loved him, men wanted to be like him – the impeccable manners, the flare, the sex appeal.’164


Despite the UK success, the US release in May 1963 was badly handled. Broccoli recalled the distributors were ‘anxious to get their money back so they schlocked the film out, playing it in drive-ins. Dr. No never opened in New York, Chicago or any key city. It opened from the inside.’165


During its theatrical life, Dr. No has been estimated to have grossed $16,067,035 in North America and $43,500,000 internationally.


Sean Connery became an instant star and preparations were already underway to film the next Ian Fleming thriller. When he first took on the role, Connery was concerned about signing up to a series, ‘I wasn’t sure I wanted to get involved in that and the contract that would go with it. Contracts choke you, and I wanted to be free.’166 However, Sean Connery and James Bond were about to become indistinguishable.
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Flushed with the success of Dr. No the newly established team at Eon Productions wasted no time in progressing with their next production: Call Me Bwana. Now a quirky curiosity, the movie was predominantly a Harry Saltzman initiative.1 Co-written by Dr. No’s Johanna Harwood with Nate Monaster, Mort Lachman and Bill Larkin, Call Me Bwana is a Cold War romp involving a space capsule returning from a mission to the moon. Holding vital information, the capsule lands in a fictional African state and the Americans send Matthew Merriwether, played by Bob Hope, a famed (but, in fact, fake) explorer to track down the capsule before the Soviets, who have assigned Luba (played by Anita Ekberg), a respected anthropologist, to get there first. Harwood admitted, ‘I’m not sure that I have ever actually seen it because it came out when I was in Paris and I don’t think it has been shown since.’2


Shot at Pinewood Studios, with second unit material filmed on location in Kenya, the film bills Harry Saltzman as ‘executive producer’ while it is ‘produced by Albert R. Broccoli’. Bob Hope had starred in Saltzman’s first film, The Iron Petticoat and Anita Ekberg had appeared in the Warwick production Zarak for Broccoli.


Director Gordon Douglas was assisted by the core team who had worked on Dr. No; cinematography by Ted Moore, editing by Peter Hunt and design by Syd Cain (Adam was already working for Stanley Kubrick on Dr. Strangelove, 1964). The picture also features an amusing title sequence by Maurice Binder.


The film contains some amusing moments, including a spoof of the Dr. No tarantula scene and a game of golf in the African plains, where famed professional Arnold Palmer turns up as himself, as well as some classic Bob Hope-isms thrown into the mix.


Composer Monty Norman also returned to the Eon fold, but was rueful about the experience:




I never got a contract from Harry at the beginning. I said, “The director’s happy, you seem to be happy, everyone’s happy, Bob Hope is certainly happy. Isn’t it time we talked money?” [Harry] said, “If you wanna talk money, we can’t do business!” Harry was a really good film man and also a theatre man for that matter but he was very difficult and most people had trouble with him at one stage or another. There should have been a Harry Saltzman survivors’ club.3





Prior to production, journalist Donald Zec suggested to Broccoli that Eon’s next film should feature a popular new beat combo. Broccoli raised it with Saltzman who said, ‘Let me ask you something, Cubby: would you rather make a film with four long-haired schnooks from Liverpool who nobody’s ever heard of, when we’ve got Bob Hope – Bob Hope! All ready to go.’4 That was the rationale for the Bond producers missing the opportunity to produce the first Beatles film.5 Call Me Bwana remained the only non-Bond Eon Productions feature film until 2014’s The Silent Storm.


So eager were United Artists to get back into the James Bond 007 business, they immediately approved a production budget of $2 million for the second film. The producers received a larger fee, an increased overhead allowance and personal expenses budget. If both Dr. No and the second film recouped their costs together, Danjaq’s profit share on subsequent pictures would increase from 50 per cent to 60 per cent.6 But there was one man who was not happy: Sean Connery. Overnight Connery had become the top-grossing star in England. While Dr. No had been unceremoniously dumped in the US drive-in circuit in May 1963, it had still been successful enough for United Artists to double the budget.


Connery now regretted signing a multi-picture deal and, having glimpsed the success that lay ahead, wanted more. His then wife, Diane Cilento, remembered that Cubby and Harry did not want to alter the contract, ‘There was a long legal wrangle, which entailed lawyers, agents, flaring tempers, shouting and lots of aggravation.’7 She understood that Connery’s agent, Richard Hatton, was ‘bargaining from a position of impregnable strength’8 and terms were eventually agreed. Connery would get a $100,000 bonus on top of his $54,000 salary.9 Financial gripes aside, he was still enthused by James Bond. Connery mused, ‘I suppose the Walter Mitty in every man makes him admire a man like Bond a little. Ian Fleming told me he studied psychology before the war in Munich. Perhaps that’s why he seemed to know such a lot about the hidden yearnings in men and women.’10 Connery had an interesting thought process, ‘I once wondered what Bond thought of Fleming. He would admire him. Admire his well-founded, well-used substance and forthrightness. Admire immensely his brain and his reasoning powers, his villains and his heroines.’11


FROM RUSSIA WITH LOVE was chosen as the second Fleming novel to be adapted for the screen. The THUNDERBALL situation was still a legal quagmire. The most recent novel, THE SPY WHO LOVED ME, published on 13 April 1962 was an experimental novella that Fleming had not wanted filmed. Cubby Broccoli considered FROM RUSSIA WITH LOVE ‘one of Fleming’s best stories [where the] leading characters were well fleshed out. It was a tough straightforward spy adventure and the public was familiar with the title.’12 This was also the book that President Kennedy had highlighted as one of his favourites a couple of years earlier. Fleming expressed his gratitude:




I would not know how to go about soliciting such complimentary remarks from high places. I only met President Kennedy once socially when he was still a US Senator and I don’t believe I made such a profound impression on him that he would read my books as a result of our meeting. Yes the President has mentioned his fondness for my books on many occasions and I am proud to number him amongst my most ardent fans. In recent years, I have always sent him an autographed copy of each new book as soon as it comes off the presses. I think that is the least I can do.13





Like all Bond screenplays, its development went through many hands and processes. Richard Maibaum remembered, ‘On From Russia With Love, they had Len Deighton start.’14 Len Deighton was the hot new thriller writer of the day, following in the slipstream of Ian Fleming. His debut novel, THE IPCRESS FILE, featured a nameless hero who was seen as an anti-Establishment retort to Fleming’s world: a classless stick to beat the elitist Bond. Deighton was fêted by the press as the brave new hope and had even met Fleming. He met with Saltzman at Pinewood Studios the week Dr. No opened in October 1962. The producer wanted to buy the film rights to THE IPCRESS FILE. At subsequent meetings, Deighton was asked if he would like to write the screenplay for From Russia With Love. Deighton remembered the offices at South Audley Street: ‘A rabbit warren of small rooms served by a dark staircase – no elevator – on which one met all manner of film people.’15 He dealt mainly with Saltzman on the picture: ‘I saw Cubby from time to time but our conversations were just friendly day-to-day comments. I never discussed films with him. His quiet voice and shy manner made it difficult to believe that he had been an agent in Hollywood.’16 Saltzman suggested a winter trip to Istanbul and Deighton jumped at the chance to escape the cold British winter.17


Deighton was unaware of any other writers involved at this stage, ‘There were only four of us on the recce and Harry’s conversations with the art director gave me the impression that we were starting from scratch. So did the sessions I had with Harry every day over breakfast at the hotel.’18 Deighton felt Harry understood screenwriting, which, unlike other forms of writing, had the unique opportunity of, ‘the chance to tell the audience something the hero does not know.’19 Deighton was accompanied on the trip to Turkey with designer Syd Cain and director Terence Young.


Deighton recalled, ‘From Istanbul I went to spend Christmas in Beirut – a town I knew and liked – and returned to London for New Year. I kept in touch with Harry during the writing – let’s say I probably delivered the screenplay in February [1963].’20 The producers felt it was progressing in the right direction and called in Richard Maibaum, who wrote a treatment dated 28 January 1963.21 Maibaum thought it the best of the Fleming novels, ‘I think we crystallised the kind of thing that the Bond movies should be. That film was the one in which we set the style. In fact, I wrote that script in just six weeks. It still remains my favourite.’22 Maibaum recalled he got solo screenplay credit, while Johanna Harwood got an adaptation credit because ‘she worked some with the director, Terence Young, and made several good suggestions.’23


Speaking to the authors in 2012 Harwood remembered things differently. She was asked to start work on From Russia With Love ‘long before Dr. No came out because they were getting the second one, ready to go, to make straight afterwards.’24 Harwood recalled the effect the success of the first James Bond film had on the second:




[The producers] were absolutely tickled pink. But what happened when we started working on From Russia With Love was quite another matter. Nobody knew why [Dr. No] had been successful. They were all terrified that the second one wasn’t going to be the same. The first draft of From Russia With Love was done by this time and it was just torn to pieces because people wanted to get the same effect as Dr. No and they didn’t know how. It was panic stations.25





The problem was, according to Harwood, the James Bond formula had yet to be established, ‘Now I suppose you could say [it is] the James Bond girls, the gadgets and so on. I can remember one moment when Harry Saltzman said, “Now what we need here is a scene, you know, like that scene in the Marx Brothers when they are all trapped in a lift.”’26 Harwood considered ‘[Saltzman] the driving force. I practically never saw Broccoli. I never, for instance, got any feedback to say Cubby Broccoli hadn’t liked something – I often wondered if he actually read the stuff. It was always Saltzman who wanted to change things.’27


Harwood formed an insightful picture of Sean Connery, ‘What struck me most about him on the one or two times that I met him before the shooting – we had lunch out at Pinewood – he was interested in the story, not just his role. I have seen an awful lot of actors who are only interested in their own part.’28 She was not, however, a fan of Terence Young:




Harry said I should rewrite from russia with love with Terence Young. I thought this is going to be agony. We had one afternoon together where I watched Terence Young running his pencil through it rewriting the scenes and saying ‘There that’s much better isn’t it?’ I had to bite my tongue because I was thinking ‘It’s not much better. And he’s not going to listen if I tell him.’ So I went off and found Harry Saltzman and I said ‘I’m leaving. There’s no good me sitting there watching Terence Young wreck it even further, you’re just paying two people instead of one.’ And I left. And he said ‘Well we’ve been together a long time are you sure?’ And I said ‘Yes I’m perfectly sure.’ And that was it.29





Harwood’s draft was simply a straight, faithful adaptation of Fleming’s novel:




I don’t know where Maibaum came in. I presume he did the nitty-gritty on that one. Anything that was vaguely like the book was mine. I didn’t invent the character of Q. Someone else must have put him in. And I nearly didn’t get the screen credit actually. Because I wasn’t there any longer, they dropped it but my agent went and got it back.30





Maibaum felt Harwood’s credit unfair, ‘I was a little put out that she was given an adaptation credit because I don’t think she deserved it, but there are always politics in these things.’31 Berkley Mather, developing his novel THE PASS BEYOND KASHMIR as a Sean Connery vehicle for Eon (ultimately never produced), also made an uncredited contribution.32


FROM RUSSIA WITH LOVE was Ian Fleming’s fifth Bond novel published in the UK on 8 April 1957. While it was the most overtly anti-Soviet of the novels, the backgrounds were gleaned from an appreciation of the country in the early thirties and Fleming’s knowledge of the Enigma device used by the Germans during World War II. The novel concerns the Soviet counter-espionage outfit SMERSH targeting Bond in revenge for his successes against them. Lured by the temptation of the SPEKTOR – a Soviet cipher machine proffered by a defecting attractive desk agent, Tatiana Romanova, Bond is sent to Turkey to take delivery of both. In reality the SPEKTOR is booby-trapped and Bond is to be filmed making love to Romanova before both are dispatched by Red Grant. The sex tape is to be leaked causing a stain on Bond and the British Secret Service’s reputation. The novel was an experiment in structure as the first third details the planning and rationale behind the assignation attempt as we follow the triptych of villainy – Kronsteen, Donovan ‘Red’ Grant and Rosa Klebb about their deadly preparations. Bond only appears in the last two parts of the novel – the lamb to the slaughter.


The producers, again, softened the book’s political edge. A Bond film staple was introduced – the ‘Siamese fighting fish’ analogy – an independent, non-aligned power playing off East and West against each other. In the film, the villain was again SPECTRE (the decoding machine now a Lektor). Seeking revenge against Bond for the death of their previous operative, Dr. No, SPECTRE hope to kill Bond and obtain the cipher machine. By making Bond apolitical, the producers showed foresight at the height of the Cold War. Broccoli recalled, ‘We decided to steer 007 and the scripts clear of politics. Bond would have no identifiable political affiliation. None of the protagonists would be the stereotyped Iron Curtain or “inscrutable Oriental” villain. It was old-fashioned and would induce pointless controversy.’33 Maibaum recalled that From Russia With Love was accused of soft-pedalling the then political scene of the day:




Commentary [magazine] held forth that we weren’t anti-Russian enough. In fact, I think we were ahead of government policy towards the Russians. We let up on them sooner than the government did. We had Rosa Klebb become a defector from the Russians and attributed all that was going on to Blofeld’s bunch, unlike the novel.34





Maibaum also recalled that Bond’s observation about Red Grant’s uncouth drinking habits – ‘Red wine with fish! I should have known’ – nearly failed to make the film, ‘The heated argument that ensued between producers, director and writer might have made an uninformed listener think fisticuffs were inevitable. Cubby’s “OK” settled the matter – this time in my favour.’35


In the novel when Bond is caught by Red Grant on the Orient Express, he relies on the fact that Grant will make good on his taunt that Bond will be shot precisely in his heart. Bond then manoeuvres his gunmetal cigarette case over his heart in the inside pocket of his coat. This case deflects the bullet giving Bond enough time to defeat Grant. The screenwriters play on the fact that the recent best-selling novel would have been absorbed by many in the audience. So, in the film when Red Grant removes Bond’s cigarette case, the tension suddenly increases. The subsequent showdown between Grant and Bond is especially taut. Other changes included an extended series of chases after Bond leaves the Orient Express. The novel ended with Bond seemingly poisoned by the curare on the tip of Rosa Klebb’s boot blade. Here, the twist conceived for THUNDERBALL of having the girl save Bond is used when Tatiana Romanova shoots Klebb.


While the screenplay was being developed, the hunt for the actress to play Tatiana Romanova was gaining momentum. On 28 February 1963, the Daily Express ran a story entitled ‘Wanted – A Girl for 007’ – and over 200 girls auditioned. The tests were filmed at Pinewood with Dr. No villain Anthony Dawson playing Klebb.36 Future Goldfinger girl Tania Mallet remembered:




I did a screentest for From Russia With Love. In a studio in Pinewood there was cameraman, there wasn’t a director, there wasn’t a producer. A cameraman said look right look left. It was very casual in those days. The powers that be thought that I had a far too English accent for the part.37





Ironically, the part was eventually dubbed by Barbara Jefford. Broccoli recalled that Polish actress Magda Konopka and Yugoslavian actress Sylvia Koscina were in the running.38 Casablanca star, Ingrid Bergman’s daughter, Pia Lindstrom, was also considered.39 The producers wanted German actress Elga Gimbel Andersen, however, a disgruntled United Artists’ studio executive nixed her chances when she refused his advances.40 Eventually they settled on Daniela Bianchi, a 20-year-old Italian actress who had recently come second in the 1960 Miss Universe competition. While not quite resembling the ‘young Greta Garbo’ as described by Fleming, she was pretty, pliant and adequate in the role. Bianchi remembered only a dozen reporters attended the press launch at the Connaught Hotel, ‘This was the second film so this character of James Bond still wasn’t very well known’.41 Maibaum approved of Bianchi’s casting:




My favourite of all the Bond girls is Daniela Bianchi. She didn’t really wanna be an actress. She would sit on the set and read an Italian novel and eat chocolates and when Terence would get peeved he would scream at her, ‘You cow!’ but she would just shrug and laugh. The great thing about her was, could there be anything more ridiculous than a cipher clerk working for the Russians who sees a picture of Bond and falls in love with him? She made it stand up. She seemed to be the kind of girl who’d do that, and my God, the scene in the stateroom is probably the sexiest scene in the Bonds.42





Robert Shaw was selected to play Red Grant, the eerie psychopathic assassin. Shaw was an accomplished playwright and theatre actor and, having been a contemporary of Connery’s on the London acting scene, was only too happy to share billing. He also shared Connery’s agent, Richard Hatton and the two actors had a friendly rivalry, which helped in their characterisations.43 Terence Young gave Shaw time before filming to prepare for the role. Shaw underwent an intense gym regime to bulk up and get physically fit.44 On location, Shaw spent at least two hours a day in the gym, working out with Turkish wrestlers.45 As Red Grant, Shaw had to convince audiences he could take a knuckleduster to his solar plexus.


Harry Saltzman came up with the first in a long line of inventive casting suggestions, when he suggested singing legend Lotte Lenya to play the witch-like villainess, Rosa Klebb, a Soviet turncoat now working for SPECTRE. With the lesbianism of the novel dialled down low and the scraped bun of hair in place, Lenya was perfect casting, although her benign, real-life self showed how good an actress she was. Married to Kurt Weill, she was the first singer of his jazz standard ‘Mack the Knife’, written with Bertol Brecht. Only someone with Saltzman’s vaudevillian background could have come up with such offbeat casting.46


Lenya remembered:




I was working at the Royal Court playing in Brecht on Brecht when the call came, ‘Miss Lenya, we have a part for you.’ The producer, a Mr. Saltzman said, ‘It’s an Ian Fleming story.’ I said, ‘I’m very sorry about my ignorance, but I don’t know who Ian Fleming is.’ So he replied, ‘Well, we’ll send you a book over in the afternoon. Could you read it and we can talk to you tomorrow?’ I said, ‘Oh, sure, I’ll read it.’ On the first page was a description of Rosa Klebb: she weighs 240lbs, her bosom is catholic down to her knee. And that was the description. Saltzman invited me to meet with him, so I went to his office looking very slim then. I said, ‘Mr. Saltzman, [I read the book and] Rosa Klebb weighs 240lbs.’47





Lenya was provided with a fat suit by the costume department but she refused to wear it.48 Daniela Bianchi remembered the singer fondly, ‘Lotte was a very small, very sweet woman. Her role of a tough villain was just totally different from what she was.’49


A key character in From Russia With Love is Bond’s local ally, Kerim Bey – MI6’s man in Istanbul. Cubby remembered one of the biggest stars in Mexico, Pedro Armendáriz, and flew out to California to offer him the part.50 This big colourful man was perfect casting for a big colourful part.


Vladek Sheybal had been in a Polish film, Kanal (1957), about Debussy, which had also involved Harry Saltzman. Saltzman suggested Sheybal for Kronsteen, the master planner for SPECTRE. The actor, however, demurred at taking such a small role, but another person from his past was a factor in changing his mind. Sheybal had directed Diane Cilento in a television play and had spent a lot of time with the actress and her then boyfriend, Sean Connery, for whom he had found a small role in the production. Now Diane’s husband, Sean Connery, directly asked for and welcomed Sheybal to the set.51


Returning cast members were Bernard Lee as M, Lois Maxwell as Moneypenny and Eunice Gayson as Sylvia Trench. However, a new face was to join the regulars and would become the most enduring cast member of the series. Desmond Llewelyn recalled how he got the part of Major Boothroyd, head of Q Branch – and how he fought to play it:




I did have a very good part in a film called They Were Not Divided (1950). I played a Welsh tank driver and it was thanks to that part I was put up for the second Bond film, From Russia With Love. Luckily for me the chap who played Boothroyd in Dr. No was unavailable. As Terence Young had written and directed They Were Not Divided, I got the part. Actually, he wanted me to play the character as a Welshman, but I refused. I had quite a battle with him. I said you mean you want me to play it [adopts a broad, lilting Welsh accent], ‘I’ve got a nice suitcase and knife that pops out here.’ Luckily I managed to persuade him against it.52





Llewelyn ‘played it absolutely straight. At the rehearsals the line introducing the character was, “Miss Moneypenny, ask Major Boothroyd to come in.” Well, Terence said we can’t do that because it’s a different Boothroyd. So it was changed to “Ask the Equipment Officer to come in,” and the equipment officer is from Q Branch, and that’s how the name Q came about.’53 Llewelyn enjoyed the courtesy of Cubby Broccoli, personally welcoming him to the set.54 It was only one day’s work – for which he earned £30 – but he did get to meet the creator of James Bond. Ian Fleming joined the cast for drinks, ‘I asked him if he recollected a friend of mine being at school at Eton. He said yes, but I don’t suppose he did.’55


Blofeld was mysteriously credited with just a question mark, but years later, production controller of Eon Productions Reg Berkshire researched the point definitively: ‘On examination of contracts and ledgers, it appears that Anthony Dawson played the part and was dubbed by Eric Pohlmann.’56


Virtually the same crew who had worked on Dr. No and Call Me Bwana were hired for From Russia With Love with two major exceptions: production designer Ken Adam and composer Monty Norman. Adam was still engaged on Stanley Kubrick’s Dr. Stangelove and in his stead, as an art director, was Syd Cain – Adam’s assistant on the previous Bond.57 Monty Norman felt his demand for payment on Call Me Bwana precluded him from a second Bond film and John Barry, who had steered Monty Norman’s ‘James Bond Theme’ to popular life, took up the musical baton. It was the start of Eon’s tactic of promoting from within their own ranks.


As pre-production geared up, Ian Fleming’s agent, Peter Janson-Smith, recalled the lively scene at the Mayfair office:




Some of the early meetings were like scenes out of an American comedy film. I remember one where we were all sitting around, there was Cubby Broccoli, Harry Saltzman and there were several lawyers and a merchandising agent and me, and various people. Every chair had a little table with a phone on it and all these phones were ringing. Harry Saltzman spoke French with a very Canadian accent: he had one phone here and he was speaking in French and this one in English.58





Many of the visitors to South Audley Street in those early days recall similar stories of Saltzman on two phone calls at once in two different languages. Hilary Saltzman felt that for her father:




Communication was so key to him to stay in touch and to be available to all of the people that he was working with and there was never a bad moment to get a hold of him. He always wanted to be available to whomever he was working with. And he was always 100 per cent on whatever he was working on, whether it was the Bond film, or the other films or theatre. He was 100 per cent involved in everything. He wanted to know what the production designer was doing, what the director of photography was doing, how the sets looked. He always had a say in everything and an interest in everything – from the music to the script.59





On 1 April 1963 production commenced on B Stage at Pinewood Studios, where M briefed James Bond on his latest mission.60 Eleven days later the studio gardens were used for the opening sequence in which Red Grant hunts down ‘James Bond’ on SPECTRE Island who, upon being garrotted by Grant’s trick watch, is revealed to be a hapless SPECTRE agent. A re-take was filmed because when the mask was pulled from the assassin’s face the actor looked too much like Connery. A moustache was later inserted. Sean Connery played the quarry for Red Grant. The eerie moonlit sequence was the brainchild of Terence Young who was parodying the 1961 Alain Resnais picture, Last Year at Marienbad, a film Young described as pretentious.61 The stalking sequence was supposed to have been set in the dangerous SPECTRE island assault course later seen in the film. The idea of killing Bond in the beginning has been attributed to Saltzman,62 but it seems the positioning of the sequence, after the gun barrel and before the titles, was the decision of both Peter Hunt and Terence Young when the film was being edited.63


On 20 April 1963 the crew flew to Istanbul.64 According to Broccoli the exotic location was another reason Fleming’s fifth novel was chosen as the second film.65 The Warwick alumni were used to the challenges of shooting in foreign locales and were immediately thrown in at the deep end, when filming in Saint Sophia Mosque. The site could not be closed and the filmmakers shot scenes while real tourists walked around the interior. Syd Cain explained, ‘The shooting schedule inside the mosque was sporadic as the Turkish government would only allow us to shoot when it did not interfere with normal tourism activity.’66


The location proved difficult with the locals unfamiliar with the disciplines of film-making. At Sirkeci Station, Cain recalled how: ‘For three frustrating takes in a row [the train driver] managed to miss the mark, each time ripping out the cables to the generators and plunging the station into darkness. Finally, on the fourth take, the scene was completed.’67


As James Bond increased in popularity, the unit drew crowds everywhere they went. One newspaper report painted a vivid picture:




Istanbul: crowds of between 2,000 to 3,000 people have been forming amid the seventy-two-man movie unit each time they set up their cameras on the busy thoroughfare here. The other day director Terence Young faced his biggest challenge, when he staged a scene of Sean Connery … running into the main entrance of the Sirkeci Railroad Station [doubling for Zagreb station] near the Galata Bridge. This sequence drew the biggest crowd ever, all of whom seemed more fascinated with the camera than with the star. After making two takes with a thousand pairs of eyes staring into the lens, Young realised that the crowd had to be distracted by some other spectacle. So after lunch, he sent one of the company stuntmen across the street to hang from a third floor balcony screaming for help. With the assistance of the Istanbul police, he also arranged for a fire engine to arrive, with sirens screaming, to rescue the man from the balcony. Quite understandably the crowd rushed across the street to watch the new action, and Young and his crew, working quickly, got the scene they needed in one fast take.68





The boat chase scenes, as Bond heads for Venice with Tatiana at his side, were scheduled to be shot in the Pendik, near the Greek border. Technical problems halted production when the boats were not fast enough and the locals had poured kerosene in the engines by mistake.69


While Young sent assistant director David Anderson to shoot plates for the Orient Express scenes, he took the principals to the industrial section of the city where they shot the assassination of Bulgarian agent, Krilencu.70 In the novel he escapes from a trapdoor set within a poster of the Marilyn Monroe film Niagara (1953), but here the filmmakers had an even better idea. Syd Cain remembered, ‘We had the bright idea to get some maximum publicity for another Eon Production, the forthcoming Call Me Bwana. I ensured the entire side of the wall on which the villain would climb down sported a gigantic advert for the film.’71 It is from Anita Ekberg’s mouth that Krilencu escapes before he’s satisfyingly shot by Kerim Bey.


Ian Fleming visited the unit while they were shooting in Turkey, associate producer Stanley Sopel remembered, ‘He was terribly interested. It wasn’t publicity – he just wanted to see what the hell we were up to. He stayed about a week, enjoyed himself, said, “Carry on, fellows” and away he went.’72 Cubby Broccoli remembered a change in Fleming on location,




In the London production meetings he would sit there in his detached manner, diffidently suggesting an idea or two. Fleming in Istanbul was in his element. I can picture him now in one of Istanbul’s exclusive restaurants, a quivering midriff an inch or two off the end of his Turkish cigarette and his pale blue eyes locked on the dancer’s navel.73





Broccoli enjoyed Fleming’s company:




I got to know him better when we were doing From Russia With Love. We went down to Turkey on the same plane. He loved to order food and later when my wife Dana came down, he took us out to dinner several places. In one case he was rather annoyed because one of our people insisted on ordering food. He wanted to do the ordering. He didn’t want somebody going into a Turkish restaurant ordering en masse. So he sulked a bit when he got there and found out this was all pre-ordained. When they asked what he wanted, he said, ‘Well, I’ll have a Spanish omelette’. In Turkey! That was his way of getting back, and saying that he didn’t approve of the dishes that were ordered.74





In his autobiography Broccoli revealed the offending crew member was Saltzman.75


Diane Cilento accompanied Connery to Turkey and while in Istanbul, bonded with both Fleming and Armendáriz, as they enjoyed the city’s exotic delights in the company of their local bodyguard, Mustapha.76 Mustapha had organised a wrestling bout between Turkish wrestlers and the English stuntmen. Cilento recalled the hosts outmanoeuvred the tourists in an expert display of nimbleness.77 She also observed at first hand the competitiveness between her husband and Robert Shaw. The latter had challenged Connery to a race, Connery had nonchalantly accepted but seemed unconcerned while Shaw was seen training for the whole week. On the day of the race the entire crew turned out to spectate. Shaw was kitted out in fine running shoes while Connery turned up wearing heavy-duty boots. The race commenced and Shaw charged ahead seemingly outpacing Connery. But the track was stony and flinty and made running in ordinary sports shoes impossible. Connery, however, in his boots, could withstand the terrain and in due course overtook Shaw and won the race.78


Harry Saltzman had a tough, irrascible side to him which annoyed many colleagues. However, Syd Cain recounted a gentler, more sensitive side to the producer on the Turkish set:




A voice boomed out across the store: ‘What are you doing Syd?’ It was Harry. I explained I was looking for a present to take home for my wife, Angela. ‘This is what you should buy her’ said Harry, showing me a Harem ring made of rubies and blue-enamelled gold. I told Harry it was out of my reach. That night, I was surprised to see the ring on my bedside table. I explained [to] Harry [that he] had embarrassed me by doing this, that my wife would have immediately known I couldn’t have afforded such a present, though I appreciated his wonderful gesture. Harry understood and said, ‘This is what you do. Tell your wife it’s a present from me, for all the hard work you have done and that she’s to come out to the location for a holiday – all on the company, of course.’ This was more than generous of Harry and Angela enjoyed a wonderful time in Turkey.79





John Barry spent two weeks in Istanbul to pick up local colour and found the place bizarre:




If ever I walked into a page of Kafka, this was definitely it. One night me and Noel Rogers went into this gorgeous place with a really long bar and a 50-foot brass rail holding it all together. The next thing we knew we leaned on this rail and the whole thing just collapsed on top of us, every nut and bolt. It was a very strange evening. Istanbul’s like that. You get in a cab, go half a mile and then three old ladies get in holding chickens.80





The production was shadowed by sadness when it was discovered that Pedro Armendáriz was suffering from cancer with only weeks to live. Upon returning to Pinewood, Young arranged for the Mexican to have all his scenes shot first so that he could quit the production and return home, so Syd Cain hastily designed the gypsy camp set in ten days.81 Young remembered, ‘We’d shot all his scenes out of continuity. We did the gypsy encampment scene and as we got the last shot, the rains came. We’d literally got the last shot in the can, I’d said, “Cut, print it. On your way, Pedro, go home and get some sleep.”’82 Armendáriz left the production on 9 June 1963.83 Young then literally stepped into his shoes, ‘I then played the part of Armendáriz with Sean and all the other actors without his being there for the rest of the picture.’84


Armendáriz’s truncated shoot affected the part played by Nadja Regin, Kerim’s girlfriend in the film. ‘I should have had a slightly larger part but because of the arrangement, Terence Young had to make sure that Pedro Armendáriz could finish his part, they had cut certain things.’85 Regin remembered her co-star ‘was always courteous but very withdrawn. He hardly spoke to anyone.’86 On one occasion, however, the ice did break. ‘I had seen a Mexican film of his in Yugoslavia. I said, “I saw you in La Perla (1947).” The thought of a Mexican film being so valued in a country like Yugoslavia meant something to him. He was easier with me.’87


Young was forced to cut his favourite scene featuring Armendáriz for continuity reasons. A moustachioed Bulgarian spy in a beret tails Bond when he first reaches Turkey; the Bulgarian is killed by Red Grant in the Saint Sophia Mosque. Later in the film, in an attempt to explain how Bond loses his tail en route to his rendezvous with Tatiana, a clever sequence was devised. A Bulgarian agent is prevented from following Bond in an elaborate car crash. Bond transfers into Kerim Bey’s Rolls Royce which swishes up alongside the site of the incident. The Bulgarian is unable to follow because of his crashed car. Armendáriz as Bey leans out of his window and admonishes the enemy agent. Tapping off a particularly long ash from his cigarette, he opines, ‘That, my friend, is life’.88 On a preview it was noted that the enemy agent was the same man who played the Bulgar killed earlier by Red Grant in the mosque. Continuity-wise it made no sense. Young was sad to see the scene go, as it showcased Armendáriz to great effect. In light of his health situation it was symbolic of a philosophical attitude to life. Pedro Armendáriz committed suicide a week after completing work on the film.


After she failed to secure the lead in Dr. No, Young made good on his idea for Martine Beswick in From Russia With Love. Cast as one of the duelling gypsy girls Zora, against Aliza Gur who played Vida, Beswick was thrilled to appear in a Bond film. The fight over the right to marry the Gypsy chief’s son was originally to be filmed in Turkey, but according to Gur, ‘The weather was against us so we had to do it back at the studio.’89 Gur felt, ‘Terence Young chose me because, like most men, he’s intrigued by Israeli girl soldiers.’90 Beswick recalled, ‘We literally rehearsed [for] three weeks. It was like a dance sequence, it was choreographed. Terence wanted to use the hand-held. He needed to be able to come in and shoot really close.’91 However, Beswick remembered the fight was spiced with rivalry, ‘Because I was a really good friend of Terence, [Gur] was furious about that and was very rude saying, “You slept with him.” I didn’t get on with her. She was difficult, let’s put it that way. But we got a really good fight. Both of us probably had to be hurt a little bit.’92 Beswick sheepishly admitted, ‘Terence said, “Really give her one” even though I was known as “Battling Beswick”, I really couldn’t.’93


Another vicious, but less sexy fight was arranged by Peter Perkins, who had taken over from Bob Simmons as stunt co-ordinator. Bond and Red Grant’s showdown at the end of the film was to be brutal. Simmons was engaged on Irving Allen’s Genghis Khan (1965), but returned to double Connery for the train fight, while Jack Cooper doubled Shaw. Cain’s Orient Express interior was based on a recce the designer had made of the real train in Paris.94 Two stationary cameras were initially used to shoot the scene but, at editor Peter Hunt’s suggestion, a hand-held camera was used.95 Steven Saltzman, Harry’s son, made an interesting observation about this scene:




It was the apex of everything [Harry] felt Bond was about. It was gritty, [Bond] could get hurt, he could get damaged. The fight on the train blew his mind. [In] the rest of the series, as you can see, even the early ones like Dr. No, they all have a kind of cartoon inability-to-be-killed quality to the character. He thought [From] Russia with Love was the best of the lot. For him Robert Shaw was the greatest of all the heavies.96





When the Bond films began they were not children’s entertainment, they were aimed at an older audience. The gypsy girl fight, the train combat sequence, and Bond and Tatiana’s honey-trap lovemaking (while secretly being filmed) troubled the British censor John Trevelyan. However, he justified his lenient classification of the films:




Bond is a fantasy figure for the millions who lead dull lives. Our greatest problem with these films in my time was the film From Russia With Love. I could easily argue that the Bond films were more harmful than many others; the violence was surreal, and it was treated callously. Our defence was this, that obviously audiences did not find the violence realistic or nasty but entertaining. In the end we reached agreement [with the producers].97





Syd Cain’s art direction went for a more realistic feel than Dr. No. The initial chess room scene set in Venice was augmented by a splendid matte painting by Cliff Culley, as well as other realistic paintings rendered by a particularly workmanlike Scottish scenic artist. This contrast between craft and high art came to a head when Cubby escorted a visiting group of journalists around the set. They stopped to admire the work and gasped in amazement. One journalist asked if it was in the style of Rubens. The Scottish artist responded gruffly, ‘Yes, it’s all tits and arseholes.’ Cubby moved them on quickly.98


The scene where Bond encounters thousands of rats in the Byzantine cisterns underneath Istanbul could not be filmed with authentic wild rats due to health and safety restrictions.99 Instead, tame rats were purchased and painted in cocoa. However, the rodents would just sit under the hot lights, licking the chocolate off each other. Syd Cain flew to Madrid where animal husbandry laws were a little more relaxed. With the help of a local rat-catcher, he populated the set built in a warehouse with hundreds of rats, and the crew were protected by a glass cage. However, the shot was plagued when the rats overran the place. Cain was outmanoeuvred by his producer, ‘Cubby Broccoli was a man of some considerable girth but he moved like an Olympic runner to outrace me to a stepladder.’100


Bianchi remembered her playful co-star during the pivotal love scene around which From Russia With Love hinged, ‘I was very concerned about keeping the sheet tight around me because underneath I was dressed in a body stocking. Sean naturally did everything he could to complicate things. Then Terence made us repeat the scene so many times. It was rather comical.’101


Things were not always harmonious. Vladek Sheybal, tiring of Saltzman’s instructions on his acting, left the set and only returned on an assurance from Young that the producer be banned from the set during the completion of the actor’s scenes.102 Johanna Harwood observed the dynamic between the different producers:




Cubby Broccoli’s great place in the film industry was that he was nice. He was calm. What happened was when Harry Saltzman rubbed someone up the wrong way and there was a real problem on the horizon, Cubby would go in and smooth things down. Cubby did exactly the same thing with Irving Allen who was exactly like Saltzman, brash and tactless.103





From Russia With Love came in $200,000 over budget and behind schedule.104 A number of scenes still had to be captured, including the boat chase abandoned in Pendik. Young was pragmatic and suggested they shoot the sequence at a cove he knew in Crinan on the west coast of Scotland in July 1963.105 Syd Cain recalled how events unfurled:
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